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Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

Monday, 5 November 2018

(10.02 am)

MR POON CHUK HUNG, JASON (on former oath)

Cross-examination by MR BOULDING (continued)

MR BOULDING: Good morning, sir. Good morning, Professor.

And good morning, Mr Poon.
Good morning.
Mr Poon, I would like to continue my discussions with
you, 1f I may, and I'd like to talk with you about what
you allege you told Aidan Rooney about the rebar
cutting.
Understand.
You'll know, won't you, that Aidan Rooney worked for
MTR?
Understand. Yes.
If you'd be kind enough to turn to your first witness

statement. We can pick it up at paragraph 44 on

page D22.
Yes.
You say:

"Probably due to Chinat's reporting of the incidents
in August 2015 ..."

Just pausing, we've discussed whether that actually
occurred and I don't want to go back over that.

But reading on:

"... I recall that Mr Aidan Rooney, the then general

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

manager of MTRC, had asked me on 3 occasions in
September 2015 if I or any other staff member of Chinat
witnessed the practice of cutting the threaded rebars in
the Hung Hom Station construction site. These questions
were asked of me when both of us were participating in
the joint site inspection on Monday mornings. On all
occasions, I reported to him, that I saw and heard, that
such practices were continuing."

So you tell us that these discussions occurred on
Monday mornings, do you not?

Yes.

I wonder if we can just have a look at a document that
we've looked at before, an old friend, C5720, and

I understand that's in bundle C8. These are the
Leighton records.

If you go down to the penultimate entry on that
first page, C5720, we see your name, do we not, Mr Poon?
Yes.

Looking across the top, we can see that Mondays
occurred, what, on 7 September?

Yes.

14 September?

Yes.

21 September?

Yes.

And 28 September?
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A.

Q.

Yes.

Looking down at your attendance, we can see, can we not,
that you're only recorded as being present on two of the
four Mondays; correct?

Yes.

So it appears, for a start, does it not, that your
suggestion that you met him on three occasions, three

Mondays, 1s inconsistent with the Leighton record, is it

not?
T -
Look at the record. It shows you were there on just two

Mondays, doesn't it?
ook L o EEHEEEG -
Well, you must have been ghosting in and out again,

Mr Poon, I suppose?

BAEVEEA$ A reliable

Well, any document which seems to contradict your

version of events, Mr Poon, is described by you as being
unreliable; that's right, isn't it?

B HEVE(ACH: - - -IRAERBEE A S AT AR EgH— 0
CIEHEOEE » o {ry UL F T TRET A 1R SRS A R ] SER oy DT A B[] 8
FY ARG IEY - TR ERLE ANy S - TRET R RGNS HH R -
Okay. There we are. You say three, that says two, but

I'll move on, and we will see what Mr Rooney says.

I think we can pick this up in the MTR witness
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statement bundle. If we go, please, to -- it starts at
B181, but for my purposes I would like to go to B2l6.
Yes.

Presumably, you've had an opportunity to read what

Mr Aidan Rooney says here, Mr Poon?

1% FHISHR S -

Let's just see what he says, because he's coming to give
evidence on oath in about two weeks' time.

(N

Paragraph 113:

"As stated in paragraph 70 above, I had no knowledge
about the alleged defective steel works until they were
first reported by Jason Poon to Leighton on 6 January
2017."

So he's saying that he didn't know anything about
the defective steel until something, what, 18 months
after you say you told him?

Yes.
Then he goes on:

"Prior to that, nobody raised any issues relating to
the alleged defective steel works during the meetings or
site visits that I attended or on ... other occasions."

Then 114:

"I did occasionally run into Jason Poon on site.
During those occasions when we met, Jason Poon did not

mention any issues about the alleged defective steel
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works. On the few occasions that we talked, we
discussed the adequacy of the resources provided by
China Technology and performance issues in relation to
the safety and quality of China Technology's works."
Now, what Mr Rooney says there is correct, is it

not? It's correct?

SAZZ S — = - - BEEEATE - (MBI > AR ER A ERE - =X
Hfh > BABERER - T EEEES - i - HIRECKRIEN - 5=
E114E% - (BB (A0EEE - S A BEMRERIARdefective steel
work--HIAIEE L A - (B M ARIER - ARi(Esatety »

quality®EfE > ERAEEE o

And that's omitted from Mr Rooney's statement because
you never had the discussion with him concerning
defective steel works that you refer to in paragraph 44
of your witness statement; that's correct, isn't it,

Mr Poon?
WM EEAZE A ER - BERRFFEC RS AR M -
And your statement is different from Mr Rooney's because

your statement is incorrect, is it not?

If we can look at a document we've looked at before, but
it serves my purpose here -- if we could go, please, to
D234.
Yes.

This is a document that you've been asked about before,
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is it not, Mr Poon, by amongst others Mr Shieh; do you
remember that? Correct?

HF o (& e

It's a document that you told the learned Commissioner
that you sent on 6 January to, amongst others,

Mr Zervaas; correct?

Yes.
"Subject: Demand on structural safety assurance on
malpractice use of couplers". So we're talking here,

are we not, about the alleged defective steel works;
correct?

Yes.

We can see what you say:

"Dear Joe,

During our review on progress photos and videos, we
found plenty of records concerning malpractice use of
coupler in this project SCL1112 observing as [below]".

Then in the first paragraph you make the point that
the malpractices were carried out by Leighton staff; do
you see that?
e
Then you make a couple of points in paragraphs 2 and 3
that I needn't take up with you, but the second
paragraph under number 3:

"We attach herewith two of the found photos taken at

18:18 to 18:19 of September 22, 2015 ..."
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Just pausing there, according to paragraph 44 of
your witness statement, this is exactly the time when
you allege you told Mr Rooney about the existence of the
defective steel; correct?

% e
Then, reading on:

"... showing two Leighton labour cut away the
threading section of the threaded lapping bars and
installed them onto the west shear face on the diaphragm
wall, while MTRC didn't discover such malpractice and
even unable to inspect the coupler installation due to
access problem. The pour had been poured without
finding on such malpractice finally."

So you're telling Joe there and Mr Zervaas, are you
not, that MTRC had not discovered this malpractice at
the time? That's what you're telling them?

Yes.

Can I suggest to you, Mr Poon, that had you told

Mr Rooney three times in September of that malpractice,
what you would have stated in this email is, "Well, MTR
didn't discover the malpractice but of course I told
them"? That would have been the thing to do, would it

not, Mr Poon?
WEEHEATHE » N EEE R GBI AEE R R case -

Mr Poon --

Yes.
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Q.

-- please concentrate upon my question. What I'm
suggesting to you is that if you had told Mr Rooney, not
once, not twice, not three times -- three times, in
September 2015, the very month that's being referred to
here, of the defective steel malpractice, it's something
that you would have referred to in this email, is it
not?

WEES BE A TR FIEE - AYMESTHRE] - (B (T B L R R PRI A AL B 1.0 H WERRSF 2%
Anthony AR 4F-SIFIEMRERTROT 2R BHEEE—{E 58 £ 1E FEE—(ERRSE -
BT LSRR T -

I suggest that the email didn't mention your alleged
conversations, three conversations, with Mr Rooney
because, as Mr Rooney says, they did not occur; you
didn't tell him about the defective steel work in August
2015, did you, or September; correct?

IEEE -

Can I ask you this: if the conversations had taken
place, Mr Poon, why did you not write to MTR, drawing
their attention to the defective steel work at the same
time as you wrote to Mr Zervaas and Joe Tam in January
2017? Why didn't you write to MTR saying, "Look, MTR,
do you know this is going on"?

HE U EEE ST B R BRI - FTELIRA R - AT DU E R — B
contract period > FKBETE AL 0 HE5T AR honeycomb »

B E AR EE R E -
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Q.

I think we are going back where we were on Friday,

Mr Poon, but what I suggest to you is that if this
serious malpractice was going on, a malpractice, with
safety considerations, the fact that you had no
commercial relationship with MTRC gave you no excuse at
all for failing to bring the malpractice to its

attention. That's correct, isn't it; fair comment?

4 yes this is fair point > {HEAHMAEEEHZER] » TREE FER
o o FHEEGESE © [FITIESEEL -

There's an issue between us on that.

Staying with conversations that you allegedly had at
the time. If you would be kind enough to look at
paragraph 48 of your witness statement. This is on D23.
Here you are referring, are you not, to your contention
that you reported to Mr Philco Wong the incidents that
had occurred in August 2015 to Philco Wong on or about
9 December 2016; correct?

Yes.
Just to see exactly what you say:

"On or about 9 December 2016, I reported the
incidents in August 2015 to Mr Philco Wong, the then
project director of MTRC. Mr Philco Wong said he would
handle the matter. He expressly asked me not to be
outspoken on this matter. He also asked me to keep him
informed on the matter of the defective steel works

through his subordinate, a person called 'Raymond'."
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Now, again, have you seen what Mr Philco Wong has to

say about your allegation, Mr Poon?

PATEEE] - FTHHE RBEE -

Let's have a little peek together, please, if we could.
We need to pick it up at B150 in the first instance.
Yes.

It's paragraphs 41 to 43 that I would invite your
attention to. Here, Mr Philco Wong says:

"I first knew about Mr Jason Poon in mid-2015. At
that time, China Technology was a formwork
sub-contractor in the South Island Line project

And that was correct; you were a formwork
sub-contractor on the South Island Line?

Yes.
Yes, that's right. I thought you would agree that.

"... during which Mr Mark Cuzner (the general
manager of SIL at the time) informed me that there were
concerns that China Technology did not place sufficient
resources into the performance of its tasks. As
a result of these concerns, I attended a meeting with
Mr Ken Wong (the project manager of SIL at the time) and
Mr Jason Poon at the Kowloon Bay headquarters of MTR in
June 2015."

You remember that?

Remember, remember. {B{&{ENEIE(HIHFEET

Well, Mr Philco Wong is coming along in due course to
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tell the learned Commissioner and the good professor
that it was indeed the content, and I suggest to you
that what Mr Philco Wong says here is in fact correct;
that was the content of those discussions?

A, 41F% - [EHR20154EH > IIESLBEREH - ...

Q. Yes, paragraph 41.

A. ...tk 201 SRS TR AR 2 OB TR S A EE o
T S R (AR (R - (BB (B A SRS » T
HERBE A SR —({Esubcont ractor EIFFEan Y EH - HEAEEE
SR EME T HIRE 1T & 4IRS - R e oA LB R 2 oA KL B
U 2 H LB SHIER Enain con. /0 /-~ R B EIVEIEER -

Q. 1It's not related to this Inquiry, but what I suggest to
you 1is that they wanted a meeting with you, because, as
Mr Philco Wong says, you had not placed sufficient
resources into the performance of your tasks, and in
those circumstances they were concerned and they wanted
to know what you were going to do about it, didn't they?

A, EfR - TEAR-

Q. Anyway, it says in paragraph 42:

"I did not hear from Mr Jason Poon after our meeting
with him in mid-2015 relating to the SIL project, until
one day in late 2016, my secretary told me that Mr Jason
Poon called my office ... and left a message for me that

he would like to speak with me."

That's correct, isn't it? You called his office and

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

11
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

left a message, "Please can I speak to him"; correct?
Fela =R DR IE A I A LR - AR A EE fixed line
FTEEEIfixed 1ine » JREBAFRFHREREF ] LETHEE:

Okay. So I think you're agreeing with me; is that

correct?
HECH BRI U A TR B, - BMABST AETIRESE -
Okay. Then:

"I recall this happened in late 2016 because that
was the time when China Technology had completed its
works for contract 1112 ..."

That's correct, you had completed your works by

then, hadn't you, just about?

KoK KoK BRGERIREE gk A > 2017F2 HEE 25w
degree 10} - 12 H[E1 A=l ~ Kk - BRITHRAMHRR(E HE
201 64F 12 HEI201 7481 A i e e ] - RBZERE - ik
20172 FH4TREER -

And, as Mr Philco Wong says, "China Technology", at or
about that time, "would be in the process of finalising
the final account for China Technology's works";

correct?
WEAE L —(E > (& - UEEE P —(EATERETEE - BB AR G
FEUHTT 58 -

Then in paragraph 43, Philco Wong says:
"I knew that China Technology was involved in

contract 1112 and I also heard in general during the
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communications meetings that there were concerns that
China Technology did not place sufficient resources into
the performance of its tasks. I therefore asked my
secretary to connect me with him."

That in fact occur, did it not? Mr Philco Wong's
secretary connected you up to a telephone conversation

with Philco Wong; do you remember that?
BARUOE AT TS - (reaEpriant - S AHmER - (EATH
WoE B S TR R RS | I R B - TR R B EE | S R TR
Bk o BOIGTEAHERE S R M E BRI -

Well, it sounds as though the secretary phoned you at
least once, but anyway, it's not the most important
point.

Mr Philco Wong goes on to say:

"I remember that Mr Jason Poon's message during that
telephone conversation was that Leighton had not paid
China Technology sufficiently, or at all ..."

You told him that, didn't you?

Yes, one of the topic --

You also asked him, as Mr Philco Wong says, did you not,
to step in to help resolve the issue; correct?

Yes. Yes.

It's right, is it not, when Mr Philco Wong says that
you, Mr Poon, did not raise any allegations as regards
the cutting of steel bars? You didn't raise that matter

at all, did you?
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A, HIENEEERL - SEh EE A AR -

Q. Well, Mr Philco Wong disputes that.

But it's right, is it not, that Mr Philco Wong told
you, Mr Poon, that he would ask his team to look into
the payment issue; correct?

A. [EHETTH#(Etean - (EEHHFRaymond » IIEGCFRaymond#EL7 - Bk
NEE B Raymond Au °

Q. Okay. Okay.

Then just to pick up Mr Philco Wong's further
evidence on this, because it may well turn out to be
an important point. If you could go to B13618. Are you
there?

A. Yes.

Q. Splendid. Perhaps we ought, to be fair to you, to start
at B13617.

A. Okay.

Q. You'll see that in paragraph 4, Mr Philco Wong is
referring, is he not, directly to paragraph 48 of your
statement, which we talked about together a few moments
ago; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Then he says in paragraph 5:

"As stated in paragraphs 42 and 43 of my witness

statement" -- they're the paragraphs we've just looked
at, Mr Poon -- "I did have a telephone conversation with
Mr Poon in late 2016. However, as this telephone
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conversation took place almost two years ago, I cannot
remember the precise date of that telephone
conversation.

6. As I have explained in my witness statement, my
recollection of that telephone conversation with Mr Poon
was that Mr Poon complained about payment issues his
company had with Leighton."

And you've been kind enough to agree that much with
me.

"That was why after my telephone conversation with
Mr Poon, I called Mr Raymond Au from MTR's procurement
and contracts department to follow up with Mr Poon on
the commercial matters that Mr Poon raised with me in
that telephone call."

Then, pausing there, that's the same gentleman that
you referred to in our discussions two or three minutes
ago?

Yes. Yes.

And we'll have to come there in due course.
Okay.

Then 7:

"As our telephone call took place almost two years
ago, I cannot recall whether Mr Poon mentioned any
specific quality issues regarding Leighton's works
during our call. However, had Mr Poon mentioned any

threaded bar cutting issues with me during that
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telephone call, I would have asked the project team
(rather than Mr Raymond Au) to carry out investigation
as Mr Raymond Au's role was to handle procurement and
contracts issues rather than works quality-related
issues. In any event, I would not simply have followed
up on these types of quality issues with Mr Raymond Au,
because I would have considered such allegations on
cutting threaded bars as a serious matter.”

So, in short, Mr Philco Wong is saying there, is he
not, Mr Poon, that you simply did not mention the matter
of threaded bar cutting issues with him; that's what
he's saying, isn't he?

B[S > Philcofffs » EHHEFRE -
Okay. Then he says:

"I also recall that my telephone conversation with
Mr Poon was a very brief one."

That's right, isn't it? It was a brief call?

s var: IS Sayc (et CL U
And:

"If Mr Poon did raise any such serious allegations
on threaded bar cutting, that telephone call would have
lasted much longer."

Then 9:

"As regards Mr Poon's contention that I told him
'not to be outspoken', in view of that which was set out

above, it is inconceivable that I said such words to him
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in relation to any bar cutting (if that was even raised
by Mr Poon) during that telephone conversation. 1In
fact, I do not recall having said any such words or
words to that effect to him in that telephone
conversation at all."

Mmm .

What I've got to suggest to you, Mr Poon, is that

Mr Philco Wong's recollection of his call with you is
indeed accurate, is it not? There was no mention at all
of threaded rebar cutting?

EEEY > EEE -

Then of course I don't think we need to turn it up
again, but I suggest, once again, that had you had such
a conversation with Mr Philco Wong, it would have been
obvious that the appropriate thing to do was to have
referred to it in your email to Mr Zervaas dated

6 January which we discussed a few moments ago. That
would have been the correct thing to do, wouldn't it,

Mr Poon?

FE L #ifcommercial BEERES - HANTEEEIHA FmERR LA AT -
HEURETGUHEE ] - BT [EG - -k E s 3 RS S e
M > M5 —J7H > 5201 55E--201 64FKE1 0 H BTG THE AL HE e -
R 2B ——-fifE A P —(E K hconcern®isubject B - {EHIKAAR
RIS - (BART20165F R 12H - ARMERF L - 5215
OB o g 7 9 ffe R ZE B 1% » S8 2AMEI Anthony S EMA(EREE -
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BT A A TR SE s - 1T piH R IS P % AT [El s b B St ioe s
SR AR -

Well, there we are, Mr Poon. There's an issue between
us on that, and in due course the learned Commissioner
will have to resolve that.

But going on to the final conversation --

Okay.

-- I need to talk to you about, it is indeed

a conversation with Mr Raymond Au, who we mentioned
during the course of our discussions a few moments ago.
You deal with this in paragraph 50 of your first
Statement.

Yes.

Here you say —-- this is D25:

"Following the 6 January 2017 email, Raymond
contacted me by telephone. Raymond asked me to 'stop
pushing Leighton'."

Now, first of all, it's right, is it not, that you
have no note whatsocever of this alleged conversation;
correct?

IR - 7718
Even though, I suggest, it would have been an important
conversation so far as you and your company were

concerned?

BABFEATHERCREE L - AEEEE - [ Raymond [ Hodr 25 7 E0EL -
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I {5 SR I AR,
Well, there's a dispute over that, Mr Poon.

What I'm suggesting is that it is indeed remarkable
that you've got no notes whatsoever of any of these
important conversations. It would have been obvious,
wouldn't it, that they were the sort of conversations
that you ought to have recorded in writing if they
really took place; is that fair comment?

WE/N AT » Pt SRIE AR AR BT SRR - Pt — H B S AR oy B T 4
HHEEE - —fRtravelling® » —(RUxIER » FrES - - AR TUE(EEH
FHE(Econversationf{&Eail » 1EKSTH -

And that's because these conversations simply did not
occur, or certainly did not occur in the sense that
you've described them. You didn't mention defective
steel works and you weren't told by Raymond Au to stop

pushing Leighton. He never said that, did he?

A » Raymond AWRRERFIEHIAS H 1% - EAIEKEH A - JIBEE
HlE PR LR B RS IHGE(EE - - S RIRREER - B RS E
e EGIH{E tens ionjf{K » #ifhRaymond AuZiHk - GREIEAZAGIH--
ARSI N T — BB E AT A B S e - (B R R Ft EE A
it 0 FTLVEHIVERBE IR - A ARaymond AufEEIRIE %

That's all very interesting but nothing to do with what

I'm discussing with you at the moment, Mr Poon.
UEME (AT - 185 > FTLARGTREE S » & FTRIRATHES X -

That's no reason why, if Mr Raymond Au, as you allege,
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had made the very important statement to you,
immediately after you have sent your email of 6 January
2017, "stop pushing Leighton". That's just the sort of
thing that you would have been expected to record in

a note, is it not, Mr Poon?

I WEASTE R TERELAC RS H RS E - EFEEPhilcoly » [
i —{fimportant subject#IF -

At least we agree it's important.

Let's move on to what Mr Au says. That's B13674.
Mm-hmm.

I think we can pick it up at paragraph 3. Can you see
in paragraph 3, Mr Au is saying --

Yes.

-- "I wish to set out my account of the matters
contended in paragraph 50 of Mr Poon's 1lst witness
statement."

That's the paragraph we've Jjust been discussing.

"Before I do so, I wish to state that I have never
met Mr Poon before and I only had one very short
telephone conversation with him as set out below."

That is correct, isn't it? He had never met you
before and he only had one very short telephone
conversation with you?

Yes, we never meet. We never meet.

{Ef5¥--conversationflf b— » #Z2K -

And 4:
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"As Dr Philco Wong mentioned in paragraph 44 of his
witness statement, Dr Wong called me in around late 2016
and asked me to follow up with Mr Poon on the
sub-contractor payments to China Technology Corporation
Ltd by the main contractor. I remember that this was in
December 2016 although I cannot remember when in
December 2016 Dr Wong called me. Dr Wong told me that
Mr Poon was complaining that China Technology was
underpaid by the main contractor.”

That indeed was one of your complaints at the time,
was it not?

Mmm, mmm, mmmn.
"He then gave me the mobile number of Mr Poon and asked
me to contact Mr Poon to find out what the problem was.

I then called Mr Poon's mobile number to follow up
on the matter. I introduced myself on the phone to him
and told him that Dr Wong asked me to phone him to find
out what issues he had with his payments from
Leightons."

You presumably recall Mr Au phoning you on your

mobile and saying words to you to that effect; correct?
B AESE— T TR EAIEEC S I A - (E R IREB A GAVEA
FHREEEIARL - R A RIEAE H G - FrLARE GBS &R
HAFTBETFIRESS - HEFHE - Bz M -

Well, Mr Au says he had one conversation with you --
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A.

Q.

W% -

-- and in this conversation, you remember, do you not,
that he told you that Philco Wong had asked him to phone
you to find out what issues you had with your payments

from Leighton; do you remember him saying that to you?
FEMA T TEIEN A > REH P —({Esubject °
Then:

"His reply to me was very short and he just told me
that there was no problem now and everything was
resolved. The call then ended."

That's correct, is it not? That's correct?

IENELE » FEC - - T (A B (EEEEEAC s, - Ttih12 H 95% » TT4E2
EEEETT S Philco Wong FHEEEEEMEE - HRMA(E - -FaCH A THE 5T T -
PECIFIRH AR L » FnfABBRBURRGEHAR FE0EE - Bt DA R nE F1 (St TH B SE .
MEANEAREpoint » —{Eit{Apayment » 55— (B k(& 55 AR -
B A FRECHHAF ER i 78 A R - PRIESCISVE SR - IECH AR EIGR— ~ WI(E
P2 WEE R RS 2 A - S ESR R AR RS B RTRE - R -

I think we can skip the next paragraph and go to
paragraph 7:

"I am certain that Dr Wong did not mention any
issues relating to the defective steel works in his
telephone call to me."

Then he goes on to describe the logic or otherwise
of that position. But it's paragraph 8 I would like to

come to:
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"At paragraph 50 of Mr Poon's 1lst witness statement,
he alleges that I contacted him following an email dated
6 January 2017 from Mr Poon to Mr Joe Tam of
Leighton ..."

That's the email we looked at five or ten minutes

ago, Mr Poon. Do you remember that?
e -
And that you ask him -- he asked -- and that he asked --

"I asked him to 'stop pushing Leighton'"™, and as Mr Au
says:

"I deny such allegations. I neither contacted
Mr Poon in 2017; nor asked him to 'stop pushing
Leighton'."

That's correct, isn't it, Mr Au did not contact you?
HELEF - DEIELE -
And it's right, is it not, that his only conversation
with you was the one he refers to in paragraph 5 above,
which took place in late 2016; correct?
M o
That was the only conversation he had with you?
GG > P --IRELGH I E CIE T BB shic sk AR s R0
bundlefEWER - I EFEACRIE——(EIEAEL > SURRBAARGRG] - JAHK
FTHIREE L (R ] Dlshow M » HRUSEREE RS ($es howlE FI0 {lH Easf AREZIEE -
HE RG] DABE A I BB EE AR - SR S I AR [F R s (i % - W R -

EEMEHR—K -
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Q.

No doubt if that's the case we'll hear about that in
your re-examination, Mr Poon.

Let's have a look at paragraph 93 of your statement.
This is D38.
Yes.
At this stage in your statement, I understand that
you're talking about the MTR investigations; correct?
Yes.
You say:

"Representatives of the MTR inquired as to why I did
not disclose matters in the weekly progress meetings."

I'm told and I suggest to you that you were
a regular attendee at the MTR weekly progress meetings;
correct?
%
"I told the representatives of MTR that China
Technology, unfortunately, was the only sub-contractor
attending the meetings and was not a stakeholder of that
stage of the project. Strictly speaking, the progress
meetings was purely a matter between MTRC and Leighton.
I told them that it would be difficult, if not
impossible, for China Technology to raise such matters
in the progress meetings."

Now, by "such matters", you are referring once
again, are you not, to the malpractice of cutting the

threaded bars?

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

24
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

A.

Q.

-

What I also suggest to you, Mr Poon, having witnessed
your demeanour in the witness box over the course of the
last four or five days, is that if that had occurred to
the extent you say it had occurred, you are the sort of
person who would have had no hesitation at all in

raising that matter with MTR in the weekly progress
meetings; that's correct, isn't it?

JeiEde > WifEweekly meetingHEBA—FHIGHILS B - ECHABEE]
201651 0 H DBt e 2 B » ZRIFRAT2 8, - Z AT A fhpure between
S [F B - R AE]10 H b2 BE ? [N ikiiidegree 1Hf
completionAH,schedulel420174FEEE1L H » {Bfreviselff » 4201 74E1E
2 Ak WRETFARWEIRES] » FrLUSe iR — 2 R - E(ERYIE - S A
ERPE > FARIRIR I o LR E PR R SRR > HEEE > X
SCHE N EIRRAEL - SN ~ BT N A M — — A L e
interface > FEFE » M AT SR - (0] LU Sl ERacH DmPmtfT--
RMATEEEE - TH. . .

That may well be right, but what I'm suggesting to you

is that whenever you started attending these meetings,

Mr Poon, had the alleged defective rebar cutting
occurred, as you say it had, you would have stated that

during the course of the meetings; that's correct, isn't

it, fair comment?

Fr— > BUHA{E G R R IR AR G h i = ey o (i &g R James Ho
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BEVE » B R AL A 0 MEMTRIESE » Hllffsenior cone. ’ senior
construction engineer i REF]--BEEEE | manager ~
general manager{EKEL - MHAEBtYE(E Level » Bl{f4senior cone.
[GH--senior construction engineer[dconstruction engineer
1l eve LARASE £ AIE BT FHEIRTRE - Mik2017410H » RUABHAY: &5
I - EAE AR T--sorry » 20164F10H » Haksl > 20165F10H - #EAK

BT THEE - - AT B EsTsa R - SRR EIRIERRSES - FTEL. . .

You're suggesting to the learned Commissioner that it
would be difficult if not impossible for China
Technology to raise the rebar cutting in the progress
meetings, and I am saying that that is simply
a non-credible statement. Had it been occurring as you
say, it would have been just the sort of thing that you
could and ought to have raised; that's fair comment,
isn't 1it?
WENIE - FCEE— P 9 SMAEREIR H 6 F 1 35 e Alah b R4 E R
FARRE M A - BIUe E AL > HA AT Bwitness > 1
ElfEtexpectationf ik fE R HE P —T5 » Fotwitnessi i
AFREZ U EIwi tnes sFRIFHERS - S AR HFT A H
sl e ilde letelt - FTHEE R repor t A - UEEMEAIRIM 5 EEE
HMEMFwitness statement. ..

Mr Poon, I don't want to stop you if you are giving
relevant evidence, but you are not. You are running off

along a track of your own.
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What I'm suggesting to you is there was absolutely
no reason at all why you could not have told MTR, if it
was really occurring, of the defective steel works in
the weekly progress meetings.

WARERE - AEEERE - AEEEE - rFR R - IEIE S - &
AETRHE IR R - & P S (I8 IR (5% PR7TEE AR A - (=
oA BB ER S M A B URSEE R 2 T P 2 EM AR e 5%
— > AR - VE(E S - - -

This is a different reason -- that's a different reason
from the reason you state in paragraph 93. You say:

"T told them that it would be difficult, if not
impossible, for China Technology to raise such matters
in the progress meetings."

You are now giving a completely different reason for
why you did not raise those matters, Mr Poon, but let's
move on because I have made my point and I would like to
ask you a question or two arising out of Mr Pennicott's
questioning of you --

Okay.

-- I think probably almost week or so ago. Do you
remember being asked by Mr Ian Pennicott about BOSA's
manual?

Manual?

Yes.

Yes.
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Q.

And in particular the tolerance in terms of the amount
of thread that was visible outside the coupler; do you
remember?

Yes.

He suggested to you that for a T40 rebar, that's

a 40 millimetre rebar --

Yes.

-— the tolerance for the external thread was

4 millimetres; do you remember him suggesting that?

Yes. Yes.

That was for a type A coupler, that's what he was
suggesting; correct?

Yes.

You said he was wrong; do you remember saying that?

Yes.

Then, as a result of that, you told the learned
Commissioner and the good professor that you carried out
some lunchtime work, and you referred them to Mr Kobe
Wong's statement, Mr Kobe Wong being an MTR employee; do
you remember that?

Yes.

You referred them to his statement at paragraph 28.3,
and we'll need to turn that up, just to remind ourselves
of what was said.

B427.

B427. If I may be permitted to read from it again,
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Mr Kobe Wong says:
"For the EWL slab rebar fixing works, for instance,
the workers of Fang Sheung Construction would normally

insert a type A rebar into a coupler by hand to ensure
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proper alignment, and then use a pipe wrench to screw
the rebar fully into the coupler."

Yes.

And you emphasised --

"Fully".

-— the word "fully".

"Fully".

Then he goes on to say:

"For the construction of the diaphragm walls,
Intrafor would do the same with the type B rebars and
couplers."

Mmm .

We all have our favourite parts of the witness
statement, and if you would be kind enough to look at
paragraph 30, which you didn't draw the learned
Commissioner's attention to.

Yes.

"When the inspector of works, assistant inspector of

works and I conducted site surveillance of the EWL slab

works, we would pay attention to whether the type A
splicing assemblies were within the tolerance of not

more than 1 to 1.5 full pitches of threading being
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exposed,
sheet in

A. Mmm .

as per the footnote in the template record

appendix B to the QSP."

Q. That is indeed, is it not, the tolerance on the type A

couplers;

correct? Correct, or do you want to look at

the footnote?

A. Yes.

Q. You're agreeing with me?

A. I agree with what --FfF|Kobe WongE1tl » (HAKERE -

Q. You're still disagreeing with it?

30
Day 11

A. 1.5(%0E - (EMaaEEommiiE NS - You were talking about 1.5 round -- 6mm.

Q. Yes.

A, emmfRREARF T S - - QS PR —5R 4 > FTshowE] > QSPAM{Eversion
WEE > A0SR ARES FE A S A s ubmi tEIEEEEQSP version » 43 lE HCE] - - AL

F|3.5[EH#H4 - HIEREMES - 4% (EHpitchlgf > BifzsE{Epitch{fitolerance

A (R LI » G ERZ ZE 1 . S -

Q. Let's have a look at B2655, if we can.

A. Yes.

Q. I don't know whether that could be blown up a little

bit, and

then go down to the footnotes, please. Do you

see the penultimate footnote, the double asterisk:

"Ensure that a maximum of between 1 to 1.5 full

pitch is visible after tightening is completed."

A. Mmm .

Q. And that,

I suggest, supports what Mr Kobe Wong says in
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paragraph 30 of his witness statement, does it not?
UE—{##tcont radictWEARAME--F QoS PR » WIRIRIHALE - Hlfkah
B/ DI EEE =(EIEEEdiscrepancy » JF#4iEE ductility coupler
FTE B Pl RENE - BMAEED2658EMEE . . .

I'm talking about type A splicing assembly.

o HEE RS #E (E tolerance o IE[{EL AT M enginee ripIEEE 7574

F—{ERt %2 658({HF - [HEFHT40MH{Etolerance{fdmm
That's correct. That's what Mr Pennicott took you to.

And the pitch-—{Epitch#fhamm - FrLlh—(EE - EEEE—EE
BIRESE rEe EE PRBE B Al — 8 = TR S 2R H - WE— B HR A Ny (e
E[Efversion » H—fflversion » FIEZEAECERE] > VE(E
versionft&EIE(Epitch{f3.5  MfEtolerancef{43.5 » ik —(EHE -
Bl{&sh#l4sidepiece @ B&#E Aductility®fcouplerfhifhtype A
Bff#AHLI112{Eproject » FHAE—REE LB AN [EEFversion »
WRIEEFR Eversionks - B265SEHIRTRIZMAMEL1E1 .5 - FahBEEA
e - BV AEORIBHISEEW - @A HKobe WongfAT3.

We disagree with you there, Mr Poon.

R Fs3RE EEKobe Wonglff » [(RAEHT3 » EARGEIOSPHHELATH
U EAAEEE > H{AFRHEA doubts °

Well, you have doubts, and what I suggest is that you've
no reason to have those doubts.

Just to conclude this --
EH--HY > Y%

-- if we go to page B2640 --

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

31
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

A.

BT AR 20y - 3R FGTE - F R E] U R HH AR e

QSPENT1ZREHH1S TR s ubmi t i TRE

Then if we look at B2640 --

Yes.

-- we can see, can we not, that this was the quality
supervision plan, otherwise referred to as QSP --

Yes.

-- which was provided to government; correct?

Yes.

On 12 August 2013; do you see that?

Yes. Yes. I saw it.

Now, Mr Poon, you attempted to rely, when Mr Shieh was
discussing his case with you, his various propositions
with you, on the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

Mmm .

Do you remember that?

Yes.

MR BOULDING: I'm not going to debate that with you, but

I will adopt Mr Shieh's cross-examination on that

particular point, and in due course make my submissions.

So thank you very much.
Thank you, sir. Thank you, Professor.

Questioning by THE COMMISSIONERS

CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much, Mr Boulding.

Mr Poon, on this question of corruption, I just have

a couple of matters to try to clarify your evidence.
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A. Yes.
CHAIRMAN: First, the question of who was doing the work
of -- we'll call it cutting of rebars; okay?

Would I be correct to say that you identified the
people who were doing the cutting by their working
clothes?

A. Yes.

CHATIRMAN: And that these working clothes, on all occasions
that you could tell, were Leighton clothes?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: 1If somebody other than Leighton, for example
Fang Sheung, were also supplying their workers with
Leighton clothing, then that could mean that Fang Sheung
people may have been doing the cutting?

A. Yes. There is a doubt there.

CHAIRMAN: So you rely entirely on the working clothing that
you saw; yes?

A. Yes.

CHATIRMAN: Thank you.

The second issue is this. In your email of

6 January --

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: -- this is the very first documentary evidence we
have of contacting Mr Zervaas, but I think calling him
Joe, in fact, which is the name of the person who was

copied the document -- that doesn't matter, that's just
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an aside, to identify the document --

A. Mmm.

CHAIRMAN: -- you appear to be saying that what you had
witnessed was the cutting of rebars, when there were
difficulties encountered in installing the rebars. So
in fact, to quote you here, you say:

"... it is gquite normal that the embedded couplers
in the diaphragm wall were not able to accommodate the
correct installation of [the rebars, possibly by reason
of damage to the] internal threading or the tilted
embedment of the couplers ..."

Then you go on to say, in those circumstances, it
was normal for the Leighton workers or the people
wearing Leighton clothing to cut the threads.

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: This email of course was sent a good many months
after your witnessing of events?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: TIs that your evidence now, that what you saw was
a cutting of threads when there were difficulties in

bringing about installation --

A. Mmm.
CHAIRMAN: -- or do you take your evidence further than
that?

A. Further.

CHAIRMAN: Okay.

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

A.

EFA{E L H oSt (EEES - HEMA —EE R - SiifkAnthonyARKA —{EH--
H—ERGAnthony4fFAYIEL - Anthony B HEFIZEZAMH]1 8 0 EEIEEELAT
WELREE - FTLMEEEREREE EAERIR(E - S5 BRI > (R -

TGP » R FsAnthonyREEERLAEEEMIOKED - BMAE TN EW T @SB
TEPGERL (RS - AR T cut BEARE RS - & A E IR EERI A NCRIEE, -
FIEFIMSFANCRIFVEAGIHEE Bzl - 55— J7H - FARE Sl rE. . .

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, just bear with me. I'm not taking into

account what you saw or didn't see. I'm just working on
the basis of what you say you saw at the moment; okay?

I'm not disputing it.

A. Mmm, mmm, mmm.

CHAIRMAN: It seems to me that in your email, you were
saying that what you had seen was the cutting of the
threads of rebars, when there were difficulties in
bringing about the installation of those rebars into the
couplers.

A. Mmm.

CHAIRMAN: But it seems to me -- and you appear to have
accepted this -- that in your evidence you go somewhat

further and suggest that the cutting of rebar threads
was systematic and planned, not only when there were
difficulties in installation but when the question of
difficulty was not relevant; in other words, that it was
done not wholesale but it was done in a planned and

systematic way, even when there were no difficulties in
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ensuring installation.

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: And it seems to be your evidence that the only
reason for this could be because there were corrupt
motives, cutting corners, either saving money by that
methodology or making money.

A. Mmm.

CHAIRMAN: But you have no direct evidence of this.

A. No.

CHAIRMAN: So this is, would it be correct to say,
speculation -- I don't mean that in a derogatory
sense -- it's an assessment by you based on what must
have been the case, in your view?

A. Yes. Especially after I reviewing the photos and the
case of NAT.

CHAIRMAN: "The case of NAT", that would be --

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: What is "NAT"?

A. North Approach Tunnel.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.

A. And there we have different people, different
sub-contractors. We have only a common managerial
staff from Leightons.

CHAIRMAN: Would it be correct, however, to say this, that
on your assessment, because this was not wholesale but
was nevertheless systematic and planned --

A. Yes.

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

36
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

CHAIRMAN: -- your assessment is that about 5 per cent of
the installations would have been rendered inefficient
or —-

A. Problematic, problematic connections.

CHAIRMAN: -- problematic? And I know you've given this to
us already, but just so that I have an understanding,
you have come to this assessment of 5 per cent related
here only to cutting of threads.

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: On what form of mathematics? How have you come
to 5 per cent?

A. We have about 26 bays that I think cutting exists on
EWL slab, and each bay we have 30 to about 100 pieces
cut. On average, we have 50 pieces of the threads being
cut and thread installed. So times 26 bays, equal to
1,300.

CHAIRMAN: All right. Then it would be 5 per cent because
you were aware of the total number of rebars that had to
be coupled?

A. Yes, about 26,000 announced by MTR.

CHAIRMAN: ©Now, was that number MTR's figure prior to
correction --

A. I think so.

CHAIRMAN: -- or subsequent to correction? Because if
I remember correctly, subsequently they said, "Oh, yes,

there was a change in plan which reduced the number of
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couplers we needed."
A. Because of the connection, the through-bar on the top,

that will be reduced for 2,000 pieces, so altogether

it should become downward to -- I heard the figure
is 23,500.

CHAIRMAN: All right. But -- it's not really directly
relevant -- your mathematical approach to assessment was

to take a figure of the installation of about 26,0007

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: And then your average of what would have been
faulty connections, and those two base figures bring you
to an assessment of about 5 per cent?

A. Yes, only a rough assessment, never precise --

CHAIRMAN: ©No, I appreciate that. That's your assessment,
not precise, of about how many couplers would have been

problematic, to use your term?

A. Yes.
CHAIRMAN: All right. 1It's just -- if you've got workers
who are told to install -- who are told to cut rebars,

even though there's no difficulty in making the
installation, just cut them systematically. I can
understand you saying, "Cut half of them" or "Cut

a quarter of them", but 5 per cent is a somewhat more
precise figure, is it not? You know, you are turning
around and saying, "Right, I want you to cut 5 per cent

of these."™ Because you can't say "Cut all of them"
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A.

because there's no connection at all then, and you can't
say —-- and you're not suggesting anybody said to these
workers, "Cut half of them."

No.

CHATIRMAN: So how do they assess how many they should cut?

Surely the only way to assess is by looking at the wall
and saying, "We've got problems with these wvarious
installations, and we've been told, 'Don't bother to
wash out, don't bother to report to Leightons and get
their specialist team to come in, Jjust cut.'"

But that would bring you back again, would it not,
to the issue that the only time cutting took place was
when there was a potential difficulty in installation?
Mmm. The estimation is mainly based on the informations
that we observe, including the cut pieces from floor,
and the time that we observe the people cutting it, and
divided by the time per piece. It is a relatively
estimation by means of time, by means of our visual

evidence, et cetera.

CHAIRMAN: All right. Good. Thank you very much indeed.

That helps me. Thank you.

Cross—-examination by MR KHAW

MR KHAW: Thank you, Mr Chairman.

A.

Q.

Good morning.
Good morning.

I act for the government.
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A.

Q.

A.

I understand.

Like the Commission of Inquiry, the government also
wants to get to the truth of what actually happened.
Mm-hmm.

And hence I have a few matters that I wish to clarify
with you or perhaps gather further details from you.
Understand.

And hopefully I can bring your cross-examination to

a relatively more peaceful end.

The first area I wish to very briefly go through
with you is perhaps a rather minor point, a relatively
straightforward point.

Okay.

That is the email that you sent to the government --
Yes.

-- ie the Secretary for Transport and Housing. There
should be not much controversy regarding that particular
point. In fact both Mr Pennicott and Mr Shieh have also

referred you to that particular email.

Yes.
But, as you may be aware -- or you may not be aware;
I can tell you now -- a few government officers have

made their witness statements for this particular
purpose. So, 1f there is not much controversy between
you and me on this point --

I have no.
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Q.

-- and on certain conversations between you and the
government officers, then we may not be required to call
all the government officers to come --
I agree, I fully agree.
Just to save everyone's time. Just a few questions on
this, to complete the picture.
If we can first take a look at G3/2033.
Yes.
That no doubt is the email that we have all seen, that
is the email dated 15 September --
Yes.
-- 2017 that you sent to the Secretary.
If we can take a look at one of the witness
statements filed by the government. G3/2056.
Yes, I got it.
This is —-- the English translation at 2056.1.
This is a witness statement from an assistant
clerical officer, Ms So, and in paragraph 4 she said:
"Shortly after lunch time, between 2 pm and 3 pm, on
15 September 2017, I received a phone call from
Mr Poon ... Mr Poon stated that he had sent an email
concerning the MTR and a contractor known as Leighton,
which was related to public safety issues, to the
officials of the THB on that day. He told me his mobile
phone number and requested the relevant officer to give

him a reply."
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Would you agree that that basically summarises
your --
Agree.
-- conversation with Ms So?

Then if we can take a look at another witness
statement, G3/2026.
Yes.
It's a statement from Mr Leung Sai Ho of Highways
Department.

If we can take a look at paragraph 9.
Mmm .
In about the middle, can you see, "Hence, I made
a return call to Jason Poon"; do you see that?
Yes.
"As far as I can remember, Jason Poon told me that the
issue was about the poor quality of couplers used in the
contract. He said he had asked Leighton to rectify the
problem but in wvain."
Yes.
"Jason Poon also said he did not approach Highways
Department or any government officers on this issue
until [your first email to the secretary].”
Yes.
"He considered that it was his last resort before he
would approach the media. Jason Poon indicated that he

would welcome officers from the Highways Department with
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professional knowledge to discuss the issue with him."
Agree, agree.

Would you also agree that this is the gist of your
conversation?

Agree.

Thank you.

Then there's also a conversation -- this is what
happened on 15 September. On 16 September, there was
a conversation between you --

A lady.

-- and a lady called Christie Wong. If we can have
a look at the relevant bit of her witness statement.
G3/2151.

Yes.

Do you see 2151, paragraph 5°?

Yes.

Maybe we can just take a look at paragraph 6:

"On 16 September ..., I waited in Vincent Chu's
office ... but did not get any call from Jason Poon."

You realise that before that they had difficulties
in trying to get hold of you?

Understand.
Then:
"T therefore called Jason Poon at around 0915 [in

the morning]. Over the phone, I stated that I was the

engineer responsible for the Hung Hom Station of the SCL
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project and would like to discuss with him about the
issue and his concerns. However, Jason Poon stated that
he preferred discussing with Vincent Chu directly on

18 September 2017. Jason Poon also said that he would
be engaged in a meeting that morning but should be able
to call Vincent Chu at around 1100 hours on 18 September
2017. I subsequently emailed Jason Poon ... and
recorded his preference to discuss with Vincent Chu "

You also agree that this was the gist of your
conversation with Ms Wong?

Fully agree.

Thank you. If we can just complete the email chain
here. If we can take a look at G3/2144.

Yes. Got it.

Yes. 2144, at the bottom --

Yes.

-- was an email from the government, Mr Vincent Chu to
you, on 18 September at around 5.10 pm. It said, "tried
to call you" but not available, et cetera.

Then at the top there was another email, follow-up
email, from you to Vincent Chu on the same day. It
said:

"As discussed on the phone ... you agreed to provide
information of the issue by writing to us within
an hour. Upon receiving the information, please note

that we would follow up the issue accordingly."
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So you have no dispute --

No dispute.
-—- over these emails.

Then finally, just one passage from Vincent Chu's

witness statement. G3/2110.

Yes.

This is a witness statement from Vincent Chu. At
paragraph 12 he says:

"On 18 September 2017, I called Jason Poon ... At
1845 hours on the same day, I managed to contact Jason
Poon by phone and he agreed to provide information of
the 'issue' by writing within an hour."

This is what Mr Vincent Chu said --

Exactly.

-- and you agree; right?

Yes.

Finally, do you remember what we call the "close file"
email?

Yes.

2147.

yes.

Where you asked the government to close the file because

you believed that you had already brought this matter to

an end.
Yes.

Then you also express your acknowledgement in relation
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to the services provided by the government?

Yes.

So, so far so good, so quite an amicable start that we
have.

Now, one area that I wish to explore with you, which
perhaps also related to the questions just raised by the
chairman, if I could ask you to take a look at the
transcript, Day 7, page 86.

Yes, got it.

86, line 17, take a look.

Yes.

That is a question raised by Mr Pennicott on Day 7.
Mmm .

You see:

"The problem we've got with your evidence, as we see
it, I think, is that even before they've encountered any
particular problem in any particular area, at any
particular coupler, that it's all being cut before that
happens, and there just doesn't seem any explanation as
to why they would do it. There's simply no advantage to
Fang Sheung, there's no advantage to Leighton, there's
no advantage to MTRC. Who is gaining any advantage, and
what is it, from this process?"

Do you see that?

Yes.

Then your answer is:
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"Definitely there is advantage for Fang Sheung."

Then Mr Chairman followed up by asking:

"What's the advantage for Fang Sheung?

Answer: To reduce the cost of labour" -- that is
what we had to explore last Friday.
Yes.
"And second, yes, there is no immediate and direct
advantage to the corporation of Leightons, but on that
level of superintendence, et cetera, they are achieving
the [same] benefits on settling the things, the
difficulties that they are encountering on site ..."

Now, pausing here, if we can go down a little bit to
around line 17, "And further" -- can you see that?
Yes.
"... one further information that Leighton might not
release to the Commission yet. At that particular
moment, Leightons had encountered problems on fixing the
threaded bars onto the couplers.”

Okay?
Yes.
Pausing here, I believe perhaps some people in this room
at that time might not be able to fully understand what
you said. I say "some people" because I don't wish to
admit that I am the only who was one not able to
understand what you said at that time.

Pausing here, can I just ask you to briefly describe
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A.

what you meant by problems encountered by Leighton
regarding fixing the threaded bars into the couplers?
What were the exact problems that you were talking about
at that point in time?

I remember they have about four problems. The first

problem is --

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, are you happy to do it in English?

A.

I don't mind if you swap.
Because I am just afraid the translation will become

distorted.

CHAIRMAN: Okay.

A.

The first problem is in regards the breaking methods.
They are hacking away the concrete above the cut-off
level. When the people hacking away the concrete,
they are using held-free machines to hack it, in the
beginning of time. Afterwards, it changed to water
jet, but in the beginning they are using pneumatic
hacking.

The head of the coupler was damaged during the
hacking, especially the first external few threads.
Yes.

Then the second point is they hacked too much. The
coupler is about semi-exposed. It makes the coupler
itself become undone from the original fixing of the
embedded threaded bar. We saw some of the coupler even

drop onto the floor, and therefore a hole, a big hole,
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was left on the diaphragm wall.

Third, the third problem is one of the critical
problems. It's the coupler is not horizontally -- is
not ideally horizontally aligned, and it tilted for

certain angles. The tiltion itself makes the fixing of

the bar become impossible. When the bar, when they turn

the bar, the bar will crash with either the blinding
concrete or the fixed layers of rebar.

And the fourth problem is mainly due to the
threadings. The threadings subsequently fixed to the
couplers. There are some damage during transportation
or handling of the threadings. Therefore, the threads

are not easy to screw into the embedded couplers.

MR KHAW: If I may just pause you here. You talk about

couplers being damaged, and there were couplers above
the cut-off level, above the hack-off level.

Yes.

The first thing to clarify with you is: were there
supposed to be couplers above the hack-off or the
cut-off level?

Should not, but the site actual situation is I suspect
they are not following the original cut-off level to
hack the concrete. 1I've spoken before, even in our
records of photos showing it, they are shaping the
diaphragm wall of 1.2 metres wide into a shapened shape

(demonstrating) . Therefore, the faces of coupler
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supposed below the cut-off level also subject to
hacking.
Stop here first. When did you first come to know about
this problem that you just told us?
About sometime in August. I can't really remember
the exact time.
August ...7?
August 2015.
And that was around the time when, according to your
evidence, you first witnessed the cutting of the
threaded rebar?
Yes.
If we can just move on to see your answer in the
transcript.
Okay.
What I don't quite understand is what you then said.
You said:

"Leighton is trying to get its sub-contractor to
handle these special works ..."
Yes.
First of all, what "special works" were you talking
about here?
To exchange the damaged coupler.
Right. Then you said:

"... because at that particular moment Fang Sheung

thinks, did opine, they are not responsible to handle
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that work difficulties."

Yes.

What do you mean by "Fang Sheung not responsible to
handle that work difficulties"?

Because I also heard, on that particular moment, I
remember I had received a document named schedule of
coupler, et cetera, which is a document in Microsoft
Excel format, recording the quantities of couplers in
the diaphragm wall. That document was given by a QS,
quantity surveyor of Leightons, to me directly. He
said he received an instruction from his supervisor,
asking Chinat also to price on exchange of the
problematic couplers. However, the detailed method,
et cetera, 1s not finalised yet.

He also said because the works originally is
belonged to Fang Sheung, but Fang Sheung complained the
difficulties was not generated by them and they have no
contract liability to handle these such difficulties.
So can you tell us who is the person from Leighton who
told you about this?

I can't remember. The QS, maybe a young boy who left
Leighton for a long time already.

Then if we go back to the transcript. You said

Fang Sheung were not responsible, and then "I got the
coupler schedule at that particular moment."

So you were told by one quantity surveyor of
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Leighton that Fang Sheung would not be responsible for
these problems?

Yes.

So, according to your knowledge, who was eventually
required to carry out the works?

I remember, and in also my vision, Leightons.

Their own people, or they hired another group of
sub-contractors to carry out the work?

During the time between August 2015 and middle, I

mean June, 2016, there is changes. First of all,
Leighton have some direct labours, and Leighton

also have some daywork labour. They are mixing
together. We cannot identify them. We can only
identify this group of people by their clothing, because
they have their own special Leighton clothing.

In the beginning of time, especially until the month
of September or October, they are dressing in the
Leighton orange, blue and yellow shirts, to undertake
the process of cutting and installation. We then
observe Leighton had changed and concentrate this kind
of works to few people. They are all either wearing red
or blue shirt of banksmen or riggers.

Just to follow up on what you said. When you said it
was probably Leighton's direct labour or their, what do
you call it, daywork labour?

Daywork labour. Daywork labour means they engaged the
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labour from a third party.

From outside?

Yes.

And when you said Leighton had its own labour or hired
extra labour to deal with such "difficulties" --

Yes.

-- when did such labourers come to the site to deal with
the difficulties; do you know?

Even earlier than us. We are engaged at late May, and
must at least start our works in July, and when I visit
the site even on March 2015, when I tendering the works,
I already observed Leighton have a lot of people
working on these areas.

So how long did that process take, I mean the process
that we had Leighton's labourers who came to the site to
deal with the difficulties; how long did that take?

Not really a long time, because Leighton have another
works, to clean the soil, to deal with the excavation,
et cetera, so they are overlapping with this kind of --
Until when, approximately, can you tell us?

You mean the particular cutting or you mean the period
of engagement?

The period where extra labour was engaged.

From our beginning, it means May 2015 until the end of
the project -- until we left in September 2017.

Right. So, during that period of time, there were both
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A.

Q.

Fang Sheung's workers and also Leighton's direct
labourers or daytime labourers who actually dealt with
the bar fixing work?

Yes.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN: Could I ask you: were you able to ascertain how

they worked in complement to each other, how they worked
together?

They are working together not only on the coupler
installations. The coupler installation is in layers.
If they are too advanced to install earlier -- the
subsequent layers, it would obstruct the rebar fixer

to lay the intermediate layers of the main bars. So
they have to work together.

Secondly, I understand due to the contract scope
Leighton is responsible for the horizontal and vertical
transportation of the rebar, I mean the bent rebar, into
this box of fixing. Therefore Leighton always maintains
certain quantity of labour, mixed in Fang Sheung teams,
to assist for moving, transportation of the cut and bent

materials.

CHAIRMAN: There's some evidence which we may come across,

I think, that if Fang Sheung had problems, shall we say,
a coupler full of drying concrete, they didn't do the
work themselves, they reported to Leighton, Leighton

brought in an expert team, you might call it, and they
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used water to wash out and oil or whatever, and then

they either handed it back to Fang Sheung to properly
install, or did that installation themselves; I'm not
sure.

What that seems to suggest, if that evidence comes
up to proof, is that Leightons always had some people in
reserve to come in and deal with installation
difficulties. Is it possible that what you saw was no
more than a regular fire-fighting team, if I can call it
that, who waited and, when there were difficulties,
received a report and then dealt with the difficulties?
So you may have seen them cutting, pulling out, even
leaving a damaged coupler on the floor, while it went to
get a new one?

Yes, you are correct. The speculation is one of the
alternatives. The only difference is or only critical
point is originally they are working gquite open, in normal
working hours, and they are using grinding machines,
therefore a lot of sparks fly, et cetera, would be
visualised, and subsequently they changed to the
intersection time between the day shift and night shift
and even working in night-time for this cutting and
installation exercise, and using the band saw, the
electrical band saw, so there is no sparking appear.

The sound is still high.

CHAIRMAN: All right. I don't want to put words into your
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mouth, but what you're saying is that what you saw could
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have been nothing more than the fire-fighting team of
Leighton workers who came in to deal with difficult
installations at the request of Fang Sheung?

A. Maybe. Maybe.

CHAIRMAN: But you don't think that's the case, you can't
put it higher than that, because, number one, this
fire-fighting team started to do its work at the
intersection period late in the afternoons, into the
evenings, and/or started to use a particular type of
machinery which didn't throw off sparks and was
therefore less likely to attract attention?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: But you don't put it any higher than that. So
what you might have seen, in fact, if those matters can
be explained, is nothing more than the regular work of
the Leighton team moving in to deal with problematic
installations?

A. Mmm. One further point.

CHATIRMAN: Sorry, would you agree that may be the case?

A. I agree your point. That may be the case.

One further point is if it involves Leightons, then
it becomes a higher level of handling. No one will use
an unaforesigned (?) and unapproved method to deal with
such kind of difficulties.

CHAIRMAN: I do apologise, I don't understand that.
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COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I don't understand that either.

A.

If Leighton have a fire-fighting team and there is a
sub-contractor, for example Fang Sheung asking Leightons
to handle the difficulties, because they are not
responsible for, then the practice of Leightons will be
orient on approved methods, a proper way to deal with
the above difficulties, instead of cutting or using
unaforesigned (?) method or hidden method to deal with

the difficulties.

CHAIRMAN: All right. I understand. So what you are saying

A.

is you accept that there may well have been a team of
Leighton workers who were called in by Fang Sheung to
repair damaged couplers and the like, and to make good
for installation, and that would have been quite regular
and quite proper. But although you can't be definite,
your concern is that, to you, it appeared that improper
methods of dealing with the problems were being employed
and were being employed at a time of the working day
that suggested covert activity?

Yes. Yes. Exactly.

CHAIRMAN: But if these things could be explained as being

A.

normal and in good faith, then you would accept that
what you may have seen may have been quite regular and
proper activity?

Yes, if explanation is coming out, yes.

CHAIRMAN: 1It's been suggested -- we've gone on a little
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longer -- but thank you very much. We will have
a 15-minute adjournment.
(11.46 am)
(A short adjournment)

(12.05 pm)

MR KHAW: Just to perhaps let us better understand what you
told us before the morning break --

A. Okay.

Q. -- regarding how, according to the evidence, the
couplers were damaged. Do you remember you talked about
the cut-off level --

A. Cut-off level.

0. -— et cetera.

If I can ask you to take a look at one of the
photographs that you provided, D1/232.

According to your evidence, this picture shows
workers, according to you, are cutting rebars.

A. Mmm.

Q. For avoidance of any doubt or confusion, the two workers
were working on rebars, and then we can see that that
particular layer, that obviously is the rebars on the
slab; right?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. So that picture cannot show what you describe as the
couplers being damaged, I mean the couplers on the top

level, ie the cut-off level or near the cut-off level,
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being damaged; right?

A. Yes.

Q. 1Is there any picture that you have supplied to the
Commission which can show what you just described
regarding the damaged couplers near the cut-off level?

A. We may refer to photo D594. It is on the phases that the
east diaphragm wall panel EH19 and EH20, which is the
very beginning of fixing the rebar onto the slab.

We can see on the very bottom layer of the
couplers --

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, just so that again I understand it --

A. Okay.

CHAIRMAN: -- my understanding would be that the metal floor
that you look at is in fact temporary works; is that
right? So the greenish-grey floor that takes up the
bottom third of this photograph is the metal flooring
that's put in as a temporary works while the slab is put
together?

A. Yes. The greenish-brown or greenish-black, et cetera,
is plywood.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: That's the formwork?

A. Formwork.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Installed by China Technology?

A. Yes. Exactly.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, give me that again.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: That is the formwork. What you are

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction 60
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project Day 11

calling the flooring is the formwork.

CHAIRMAN: So that's going to contain the concrete?

A.

Yes.

CHAIRMAN: Thank you. You'wve put in the formwork and then

they start to put in --

A. The rebar.
CHAIRMAN: -- the rebars? Thank you very much.
A. You can see, along the bottom layer of the couplers,

for example in this section, I mean in the central
but intend to the left sections, you can see some of
the bars -- we already enlarge the photo, so we can
see, on the right-hand side, the threaded bar already

successfully install onto the couplers.

CHATIRMAN: Yes.

A.

On the left-hand side, you can see they are not, and
the couplers is located in a very lower level that's
touching the formwork, which is an entirely different
scenario than the right-hand side. The right-hand
side, we have about, say, 70mm to 100mm above -- I mean
the coupler, above the formwork. We can also see --
the rebar is T40, the diameter of the rebar is T40 --
we can also see the rebar, after installation, there

is a tiltion angle. They are not truly horizontal

fixing onto the couplers.

CHAIRMAN: Fine. Just so you can help me again -- I have

now been educated as to my metal floor is in fact
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A.

formwork, and thank you, I understand that. Then if we
go to the top half, that's the diaphragm wall.

Yes.

CHAIRMAN: And when you speak earlier about using pickaxes,

A.

or whatever the term you used to chip away at this,
you're talking about the sort of chipping away that we
see here?

Yes.

CHATIRMAN: And that's done in order to expose the couplers

A.

so that there can be installation?

Exactly, exactly.

CHAIRMAN: And also, where necessary, to bring about certain

A.

shaping to enable easier connection?

It is one of the requirements as a shear key.

CHAIRMAN: Okay.

A.

To increase the shear performance between the new slab

and the interface of the diaphragm wall.

CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

A.

But unluckily, the levels of the bottom layers of the
couplers has actually deviated from what we have to build.
In the left-hand side of the photos, we can see the coupler
is just sitting on top of our formwork, and they had, they
did try to fix the threading, threaded bar onto the
couplers but unsuccessful. Therefore, they left the
threaded bar just beside the coupler.

We can see the reasons on the right-hand side. Even
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though if you isolate to see the couplers, you cannot
see the tiltion of the coupler.
CHAIRMAN: I appreciate that, but again returning to
an observation I made a while ago, that a photograph is
a moment in the history, and looking at the overall
thing, we can see that a lot have not yet been put in.
A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: But is that not because this photograph

catches -- or could it not be that this photograph
catches --

A. Maybe.

CHAIRMAN: -- us mid-work, so to speak, so some are in, some

are not in?

A. Definitely, it is in a mid-work --

CHAIRMAN: A work in progress?

A. Work in progress. But generally you can see the
couplers on the right-hand side have a distance with
the formworks, but on the left-hand side the coupler is
touching the formworks.

CHAIRMAN: We appreciate that, but does that make any real
difference, if you can still screw them in?

A. You can see the tiltion of the installed bar, the
tilted angle of the installed bar. The tiltion itself
makes the bar, when they are screwing in, they have to
be working in a cone shape (demonstrating).

So, if the coupler is too low that the cone shape,
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the cone operation, is obstructing by the floor, then it
becomes unfeasible.

CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

A. We can also observe from this picture the big holes
on the wall, I mean on the diaphragm wall, that some
of the couplers were already dropped down.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, before we go to that, can
I just go back.

A. Okay.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: On the transcript it's [draft] 71.1,
lines 3, 4 and 5. I don't understand that sentence
that's currently in the transcript. It says:

"So if the coupler is too low, that the cone shape,
the cone operation, is obstructing by the floor, it
becomes invisible."

I don't understand that.

CHAIRMAN: If you want to go back to Cantonese, if you feel
happier to explain that concept.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I just need a proper sentence there.

I don't understand what's being said.

A. For example > We{@E /(A7 B NGRS - BB EIRGS > AR(E
BRSHEA (i AR 2 2R S & I - TR EIReR T e R TR A 20 - Bk
WEEERARIEL R E D/ DERE - EE REE TOE RS - g G
B B CAEA L — IS — eSS - W{E cone-shapeRLRIE(H -
B At (E R R (E e i1t ion. . .
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COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I understand entirely. I didn't
understand what was invisible. You said it was
invisible. What do you mean?

A. Sorry. Because I don't have the transcript.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, do you recall --

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: It's a very simple question. It's
just that a few lines previously you talked about the

cone shape. I understand the cone shape, and you said

it would be invisible. I don't know what was invisible.

MR KHAW: Professor, according to what I heard, it could be
the use -- not "invisible", it is "unfeasible".

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Ah, "unfeasible".

CHAIRMAN: "Not feasible".

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: "Not feasible", not "invisible".
Thank you. Now I understand. Thank you very much,
Mr Khaw.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Poon, just to assist me again, it would be
correct, would it not, that this line that runs right

across the photograph, and that shows that people have

been chipping away at the diaphragm wall, that would run

all the way along, would it not, in order -- that's the
area where you're going to secure the platform?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: So couplers are going to be exposed, because you
can't install the reinforcing bars unless you expose

them, and so, in doing that sort of work, you're also
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going to see the vertical rebars already in the
diaphragm wall?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: And that would be, would it not, a perfectly
normal, everyday expectation in any form of engineering
work where you are securing a slab against a diaphragm
wall?

A. No. Along the diaphragm wall, we have

KB 4SH M shear keyBH i BMREE AT /E4E > Eshear key
EEAE - WHIS AT 5L fre xpos e HIBEE - (Bt ELACE H 1 onfd (& I
BRI RMAGE R0 22 BR 0V L R0, » 7 Pl -P RHA R 20k (E shear
ke y i SEL (o OE(E RS O A ORI, o T — R T
fishear keyW}rE > (EAFEESINEME(Ecoupler » {EIRFTHIMNE(AIEYE
EERHE couplerIMERVEEREL DT » RIAEIMEcouple r{ETAIEEES -
I TR o JR RIS MR RS EEE g EE(E couplern] DUE#E) -

CHATRMAN: I appreciate that.

A, MHRVERMHRIEERFBAR RIMEFIES - FTlAE T couple rBkife B »
it REIE L ERE - SCH R0 VISR )5 - 47 Zlilcoupler
LA PR I -~ RVE IR » ARt RE] “ER19” N - MAALEZEH T
iR PEcouple rightfs HiME -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Mr Poon, I think the chairman has
already mentioned that, of course, this is work in

progress. This is not the completed installation prior

to concreting.
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A. I understand. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: This is work in progress; is that
correct?

A. Agree.

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, before Mr Khaw continues, I went back to
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have a word with the MTRC just now because this is

a genuine request for information because I Jjust don't
understand what's going on in this photograph, for this
reason. We can see that it's EH19 and EH20, if the

photograph -- if you come out a bit.

CHATIRMAN: Yes.

MR PENNICOTT: EH19 and EH20 are in area A, and in fact this

is bay 1 of area A. Bay 1 of area A was the first in
time to be concreted. It was concreted on 16 May 2015.
This photograph is 22 September 2015. I just don't
understand, and this is a genuine request for
information from one or more of the parties as to what
this photograph is showing, where it was actually taken.
Was it inside the diaphragm wall, outside the diaphragm
wall? At the moment, I Jjust can't understand how, if we
are told, area A, bay 1, which includes EH19 and EH20,
was concreted on 16 May, four months before this
photograph was taken, I just don't understand it.

I don't know whether anybody from MTRC/Leightons can
possibly explain to us -- this is not for you,

Mr Poon -- this photograph, because at the moment, I'm
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afraid I'm completely lost with it.

I understand what Mr Poon has been saying about it
and I have no problem with that. It's just the
orientation of it. Is it really showing the slab or is
it something else?

CHAIRMAN: I appreciate that. That is critical --

MR PENNICOTT: I'm not in any sense seeking to alter
anything Mr Poon has said about the photograph.

CHAIRMAN: I appreciate that. I think Mr Poon was asked to
go to a photograph that might illustrate the type of
problems that could be encountered, and he has used
that --

MR PENNICOTT: Yes, and I have no problem with that.

CHAIRMAN: But on the other hand, you are quite right, if in
fact this illustrative photograph has in-built into it
what appears to be a very fundamental contradiction

MR PENNICOTT: As I say, I don't want to cut across anything
Mr Poon has said about what he says this illustrates,
that's fine, he has given his evidence about that, I've
no problem with that. It's just a genuine request for
somebody to try to explain what appears on the face of
it to be something of a discrepancy.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: That would be helpful.

MR PENNICOTT: I don't suppose Mr Khaw would like to help.
WITNESS: #IRIRE - (SIESUE 9

CHATIRMAN: Yes.
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A. IMAEES=IRE™ > three slab ’ BESEEEWL slab--track slab
FIHENRS ~ 6 FJ MEHS 52 RN - MR ERBEHLUE S X MR iniddle level »
PRAERLETE NHEENSL level » WEBEslab » QIREHHE E - BECHEH LA
middle levellBREf -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I believe Mr Edward Mok's evidence
will tell us where he thinks photographs are. Is that
not the case?

MR PENNICOTT: There are one or two witnesses who deal with
these photographs, yes.

CHAIRMAN: Yes. Perhaps we will rest on that at the moment.
Thank you.

Mr Khaw.

MR KHAW: Thank you. Just since we are still on this

question regarding the reasons for the difficulties, if

I may ask you to take a look at what you said in the

police statement: D1/821.2. The Chinese version appears
at D820.

A. Yes.

Q. Paragraph 4 -- this perhaps is the only information

I could find in all your witness statements trying to
describe the problems that you identified, correct me if
I am wrong. But let's take a look --

A. Okay.

Q. -- at this part first. You said:

"Below are several situations which would damage the
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couplers, making it not possible for the threaded ends
of rebars to be screwed into such couplers".

Yes.

"(1l) At the time of concrete pouring, the protective
caps of the couplers detached from the couplers, and
concrete flowed inside the inner sleeve of couplers."
Yes.

This is a problem other than the problem that you just
described; right?

Yes.

That's a separate problem; right?

Mmm .

Now let's look at (2):

"Jackhammers/pneumatic breakers used by workers for
carrying out the work process of chiselling concrete
also hit the inner threads of the couplers, making them
to deform."

That perhaps relates to the problems that you just
described; right?

Yes.

"(3) At the time of rebar fixing, there is a deviation
in the orientation of the rebar to be connected to
coupler, or at the time of concrete pouring, concrete
hit the rebar ... deviating the orientation of rebar,
thus causing difficulty in screwing "

Now, insofar as the concrete bit is concerned, that
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relates to (1); right?
Yes.

So that's just a repetition of (1). And the first part

Mm-hmm.
-- if you look at (3):
"At the time of rebar fixing, there is a deviation
in the orientation of the rebar to be connected .
What do you mean by that?
The tiltion.
That also relates to the problem that you just
described?
Yes.
So that is relevant to (2); is that correct? So (3) is
in fact a repetition of just (1) and (2); right?

No, no, no.

Ry (3) whia{E diaphragmig 2 pRIEERHE: - (EMHE{E - (B SEER TR -
(ESSEE G AR D/ VL > (B & B {E coupler - - ARKZAS A] BEATHREE - 47hE
o ABMEREEEEA /D > SEEA{Ecoupler®itiltion angleft
AR > 56 (3) BEHE e —(EE - DRt S BRI - ERR(E

#uke > AR EE R AR E TR AR AL -

CHAIRMAN: Yes, I think we understand -- and thank you for

putting that in -- that there are a number of dynamics
in play which can damage the coupler, which can

disorientate the difficulties facing its orientation.
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A.

We understand those difficulties.

The question is, as we understand it, how you deal
with it, and what you need to do is to ensure that these
difficulties are fixed and that the reinforcing bars are
properly connected then to each of the couplers.

Yes, exactly.

CHAIRMAN: And you are saying that what you saw, you

believe, constituted on occasions an improper method,
which was cutting the rebar threads and just placing the

cut rebar either against the coupler or close to the

coupler --

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: -- or threading it in only with one or two
threads?

A. Yes.

CHATRMAN: Thank you.

MR KHAW: I will move to another topic. Regarding the issue

that has been raised by various parties in the openings,
that's the change in design, if we can take a look at
your evidence in transcript Day 7, at page 141.

Okay. Got it.

Page 141, line 6 —-

Yes.

-- can you see, "There were Leighton staff" there?

Yes.

"There were Leighton staff who told me, that is after we
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started work, RDO and BD were hammering Leighton because
they did not follow the plans to do work. That's why I
kept seeing that there were changes to plans on site. I
noticed changes made to drawings. It's just that at the
time I misunderstood it to be remedial measures for
changing those plans. That's what I thought all

along ..."

Mmm .

So, pausing here, you talk about changes to plans

on site.

Mmm .

Did you personally actually see the drawings?

%go

Were you actually aware of the changes in the drawings?
%go

Who told you about these changes, or who told you -- or
who gave you these drawings?

et e &y L EFE A E{E t rack slabEE{Ediaphragm wall 7 [EEf

B % > BEMAC12/ 60655 lE > FECRIREIWTE XL » Sorry » C12ME{fbundle -

g R -~ (Houndl e BIH » FsRWEi 2 FAhivike 712 + (40l -
50 (R -

RSB EEIM B ? HEH—{Hoeneral conceptif » HXIEHIIE
T - RIS T 40 - R » o R TR - VESRIEAR
{5 B bupdate  TETRECE) » (B4R 4T ICE F U BEBE - Bk
RIRRIEREIA L HE i oeneralilf—(Hconcept - EUIFME S
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g [ A2 - Y © BRI REINE = ([ sectionEifziE S section F1 ~ F2[H]
F3 o #VE —EiF- - SR - —IREEE % - A —EIFE 2 ER—(E
idea » =fEsection EMARFHIFTWELFZRIGRIEL - FANKNEE > WIS E WL (%
cut-off levelZF[FEMidiaphragm wall @ [fjEI{4E52.84 » BEZRIE
4G - 2. 845 &sEMi{Etrack slabftop level HEHiffcut-off
level » WEsRE4FE - (EAHER2 . 8 4WREL » (B AR LTS LR
TEHIHEE - T B F(ME{Ediaphragm wallfflcut-off level{%{KIEHEf -

WE AL (el 1 it 8 R SRS L > PR B Rt 4 s, BEPRERIE (A
BEREE > (AT - Mi{Estructural arrangement > {§

EWL track slab{aEEMNL%ZE—(fdiaphragm wallfcut-off level
A » (L BRI R » FTDIB BRI B -

Let's move on a little bit. I believe Mr Pennicott then
asked you, if you take a look at line 20:

"Mr Poon, are you sure that you haven't got things
slightly confused in your own mind? Because we've
touched on this a couple of times already today, that
Leighton and the MTR certainly did alter the design of
the rebar in significant areas of the east diaphragm
wall -- we know that; all right? -- by reducing the
level of the concrete, exposing some of the rebar that
was there; yes? You understand that? You understand
what I am talking about?

Answer: Perhaps I know more than you do.

Question: I'm sure you do.
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Answer: I did."

That is what I would like to explore a bit with you:

"Question: It depends what subject we're talking
about of course, Mr Poon. But anyway, leaving that
aside. So we've got this reduction of the concrete
level along large sections of the east diaphragm wall.
You know what I'm talking about. And I'm just concerned
that what you were actually seeing was the removal of
some of that rebar at the top that was in the diaphragm
wall, the couplers, and so forth, that were no longer
necessary because they were having through-bars. I
mean, is that what you were witnessing? Is that what
you were confusing?

Then you quite adamantly say:

"No. No.

Now, Leighton and MTR have been packaging this story
and the Commission has been listening to this story.
It's a story.

Fabrication.

Question: Sorry, what is a fabrication, Mr Poon?"

Then you talk about Intrafor, they only poured five
panels of concrete, et cetera. Then 143:3 is important:

"From my recollection on site, I did not see any
special circumstances, because if there were special
circumstances, I would have seen it. I have sharp eyes.

It's like just now there were nine panels out of ten.
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Then just now you said Leighton and MTRC knew about
it, it's because they changed the plans for a better
design, and so they made the diaphragm walls lower. So,
for the couplers originally on top, they were replaced
by a continuous bar so there would be better strength
and better performance and a better structure. But in
reality that's not the case."

"That's not the case", you said.

Mmm .
Can you tell us why? First of all, do you agree or
disagree that the connections were eventually made by

the use of through-bars without couplers?

WHHBEIASIRGIEEIH T > Blfhcouplerlfith 5 5 AHFELE - A F3K
FEMT — i coupler - A BEMEFREFAthrough-bar » WE{EL
BlZbringfkfconcern » KA LARE FD607H » HEE—(ERRZ--EA
ERRAAREE > NS > lapping » BIAMASE{E L ap HEIE A]
LIPS HEE: > Feit— 2 2% low tensile zonelf » Mi¥E—{HEfL
EiFEfunderstanding » B REfPA—{EHOTE structure - MiFkBiH
F REA—(E A RS A ELE - B AEEE —(EREFFHEEEUE - HH
B LT BMAGHERVE T HE G —ficantilever slablE} » MYEHE
cantilevergt{fs®Esupport{: EIHMEOTE » BIMAf (il RV iz — - bR
QL > FRERENS: > BIZI3 REEEER 2 - (R s E ML i e (o]
diaphragm wallMfff -

WIERFMREEldiaphragm wallfTfi > 7785 - AEEMEERE A GIEEE -
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Rt e RHE H i A through bar ZFMA(#E 5 QLG /KiE - EsRMAHEEL
REE—bayHEEFRTHRME(EEZ AL ZME(Eend of the slab - M&HE

ek {Ediaphragm wallfijE ° MER{ED60S. . .

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, do we know where that

photograph was taken?
R H A DHRGHE TR - EZ (- -IREREETEGC2- ol - BIFSHE R
e Estatus » Y B{RC2-3[EHEC2-6 » {H{A/EME(EE R = EERE
B - [EH T EEopen area » BHAUEE LT - BT AT fEET
{Efc2-6 -

PRAEMAD609 » BLAMELFIE—H » HEHEHFE LFCL - B ASe U T
RfseE As CE 2 1% - Bt REWE—(ELE (indicating) » BI{&EEAR

ARD60 7 i e T+ TR AL B AU TR IR IR I  MEF RS - WEREBk AR -

D60 gk (A H B (4 (R TE A% ) E BT 7K i e e - (i B R0eR » Bl
WEfEfL B (indicating) » Flth FFFLBIMMNT > BIMGEEFBIERL AT - sk
WEFE HHFRVE (indicating) - FRMf GRS E 1 EIRER; K g AT DU SR -
FRI (0 E I 7 BRI - FRIrE L R diaphragm wall - BIf&EE
E—({E A B (indicating) » B{&EED60OEE 75

R IETE R 2 M PR s > —FEhinfaie 177 > 55— PEmtufa(E fH0eE

T EVE - VelEir Extiaiil . 22k S #diaphragm wall{E {7 EWREL - P

SEEMED60 IMHRE A FRfEsE - A £300=22kNE » (R EHERELaplkE -

ZWE(E L abMREE > N EFIMIMERS (indicating) - HERAIMIDE 07 REE

WERER - EEVEMREE S -
ERAEMR TR AR DA - B REANMEEEWL track slab o [EBfI5S4HH
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RUNNVE —RREHRE 25 - P ATAF HIET - - 47 BT E » 10095 7E @ WE(EN:E Aith i
Frefifficthrough-bar » HEMRAGEHVE - H#E{E through-bar HE
WUE MR L PR — R - REEZ AR R AR -
WEfE Bk R AR - PRSI EE#EE O —(EiEE -
MR KHAW: So you were raising this query as to whether

actually through-bars were used for the connections;

that was your query?

A, HEWAEHESESE  SUERHAERER n0E ] DIEIE Lap@E) - FEEElap -
RMARE R - - R R X AL Lap > HiFE staggered laphf @ HIfRaEAIE -
— PRI - —FRIEIRATTE Lap > 5] DAE]— (@ U Laps0et - WelE s

EXffi{E§lCode of Practice for Structural Use of Concrete 20044

A > section 8.7 FraEEREIE—MIEOK - EAER GRS i (hs

CHAIRMAN: So are you saying -- Jjust to help me again --
that in this photograph, D609, at the bottom of the
photograph, you're looking at the cut-down top of
a diaphragm wall?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: And what should be lying on top of it, if this is
a correct section, are the through-bars?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: If this is the correct section, because the
through a-bars weren't everywhere.

A. Mmm.

CHAIRMAN: And you are saying that some of them are not

going right the way through.
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A. All of them.
CHAIRMAN: All of them are not?
A. All of them.

MR KHAW: All right. We will certainly explore this with
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Leighton and MTR later.

If I may go back to the two incidents, according to
your evidence, where you said you actually witnessed the
cutting of the rebars.

Yes.

I believe that appears in two paragraphs in your witness
statement, paragraphs 30 and 39. If we can just give
you the page reference. D19 --

I got it. D21.

Then 39, it's about the site inspection that was carried
out, and during the inspection you were with Mr So and
Mr Rodgers?

Yes.

If we could go back to paragraph 30 first, in relation
to the incident in mid-August; right?

Yes.

Can I just try to clarify this with you. You said you
saw somebody cutting the threaded rebars using machines,
et cetera.

Mmm .

Let's not talk about which particular machine for the

time being. The cutting incident was carried out at the
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top of the reinforcement of the slab or the bottom of
the reinforcement of the slab; can you tell us?
FRMERE T — (B 2 4 information K HE o

So you can't tell, right?

Can't tell.

If we can take a look at a photograph at D1/232.
Yes.

Can you tell us which part of this photograph shows
a diaphragm wall?

This one (indicating).

Then we can see, I think, the concreted area here?
(Indicating) .

Yes.

On the left of this photograph?

Yes.

Can you tell us what this is, according to your
knowledge?

IE{E{AEWL track slablfadjacent bay °

Then we can see there's a void area in between. Is that

where the air duct appears?

Yes. EAEAL o [EHEUETRAN ] LABSEME R EEE - R AR e] DL R BER A PR AR A
MHEEEE - Bl{4EEES track slabfsaBE —{RIFEEAPR4REE (indicating) »
T ER B R AR (e 5k (5 A —Plcantilever structure » FHARUEHE -

Back to the question regarding the cutting machine. You

remember when you were being cross-examined by Mr Shieh?
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A.

Q.

Yes.

You were referred to certain information and then you
said you were told by one of the foremen of Leighton
that they would need to buy a new cutting machine for
the purpose of speeding up the process; right?

Mmm, mmm, mmmn.

Can you recall who was the foreman who told you about
this?

RIES S (- - a4 I BE - - Feshort 11 st BIF(E - {E(AIECIBEENZIE(ME -
Can you tell us who were these two that you have
shortlisted?

HEWAR(E R AESC R - —(ERAar P k- - HEERE#H AR ECE
WEE TR - PECIEEERIEE % - —(ER R RERE REZE - g RE
26 > o (E AR B (E R AT -

You can't recall the names; right?

WA{EFR ARSI EE I 4 -

Finally, I would like to just very briefly ask you to
take a look at B17, page 14268, which is about the
honeycombing problems that have been referred to.

Yes.

Just very briefly, when did you first become aware of

the honeycombing problems?
Helrik2 01848 H 315R{E¥T TR -

That was the first time you were aware of this?

First time.
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Q.

A.

Yes?
WEf% - FERZIHES > SIS EEIRIR201 742 H AFI201 749 H (A A A
HA AR de fectf] - FABUEFFAHEEEEL %201 848 H3157LA] -

If we talk about the honeycombing problems in general,
you were first aware of this problem and then you had to
rectify it; right?

Yes.

You were first aware of this problem in 20177

Yes.

Approximately when?
2 A £ 59 H# A hand1elgMi= -

Then you were responsible for doing the rectification

works; correct?

USRI (e - — R AR B A » IR R S B (] - MR -

Who else was responsible for carrying out the

rectification works?

BN S BRI AHE - PR R (SIS & TR e s Rt eI 55 e 18, -
R T RRAAT 2 W0 PRIEAREVEJE - IH i E fesm B E i A SiEE O - A
Wcase » BRAGTRIT AL ik 3% & A S (52 TR R ISR EERT » RIMAGEI AR
PEVE -~ R Ry USRA TH% » TSEIE R - o) OB G B AT -

Did you actually liaise with people in Leighton as to

who should be responsible for what? Did you?

Bt 2% L - WARTSR - PSS S B > FiREt s — - - =&

I A EGTH IR 7500 - (BB pTaR & 8wl SR En =0 b
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EERIRFEEEEEE L i st BB 2 1% > IRt gt > Bt (@2 —2 /W
Kot e(K[E]goe TamZ{E 1 temf -
Q. All right. Now, obviously, we can see from these

pictures, which are apparently taken in 2018, that the

problems still exist?

A, WAWREEL - EEER - AERBEII{Evitness statementBf o FKI
FLE AT - - PGB A P o e - WEMORE R L B E - R ERTEA
layout plan showlr W, - [ L EHbl 5 C oA TARCHMHER
[EIHE RS AB44 . 3_E I R A EZEEE - BB R ET A PR AEeE - BREA R E AR
T TR - (S (A0RIEIAE 7 LSS BRSPS - (450 4 g (0 [E] I B SR 03,
HRIH T 2 P AR [E) R A i A - WIS T — (M E - 1k
2017--20164F-LF201 7429 HEFHFHERERN - [ EF—F1% > 201848
i D 7\ SRR A0 B R

Q. So, just to put it fairly, according to what you said,

there are still disputes as to who should be responsible

for what in relation to the honeycombing problems?

A, REAMERER - FHEE TG RE AR A EEE - EfrS—(E
purpose X BFHIN AR XA T - M —(EFE > VelE s —(EE X
F(EHE TR A E (A 51%%E - Hffhoneycombs(# Hfficoncrete defects >
B B E = AL -

Q. So did you liaise with MTR or Leighton as to what should
be done in order to ascertain the cause or to map out

what rectification works would need to be done?

A, EY o AYE - e A 315E—kE - - BRI TR — RE 2% o T ARIZ]
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R E ST - ZORE R A LR RZE - EIRRATEMAEEE - PRt R rEE]
WEMIRE - PRI S AR E(EFR e - SIeE s RMeEA = (E st --A =(E
W5 H—HE 5 (khoneycomb - 55 (B ER Akl i85 - 5B =%
{|EGI RER e b
IxFemiunderstanding » Rt EMARF B TIEMIER 52 RE{E0EL - Bl(A
EIRG AW latent ] - BIAFRRIE - FBt RG] - nEETE - iEETEE o (BRI
P REIENFEWL track slabBfERHETAMINER - HOMRERH - Btk
TR (% - BRI B PRMAMART (5% - A FWE(E s tatus/elipe - R G 5
RETESLE A PRA R > A REE - Fr A EDE K6 - B GIH—EE
% 5 s o
PRAEH B R £tk - - BB BUTE T - Bt us il T - BUFETT
Fsaylf - NABIFHRTE(SE_EmERESIH BT - (N AEBEEIBUR 1T & 40050 -
R SURHA SRk 2 v RE (RSB A E > SEEA T (ol [0 e S5 TR e - bk SEnE
BIRBE 2L - A IB(ERRIERSTANE - G5 R E I 280 BEE] L - BlhIut T
YA ER S R (B P
I SR AES SR AL (R4 5% - AH R 4o - [RIHRIRMIM SRR AH 7 4C8%
BfaBA44 . 3WGHHA 40 - RIRA TSR G e 2 HEE -
Q. You mean the contemporaneous photo records?
A. fre
MR KHAW: Thank you. I have no further questions.
CHAIRMAN: Good. That's an ideal time for the luncheon

adjournment. One hour and 15 minutes. Thank you very

much.
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(1.02 pm)
(The luncheon adjournment)
(2.15 pm)
Further examination by MR PENNICOTT
MR PENNICOTT: Sir, good afternoon. Two things. Firstly,
I understand Mr Khaw wishes to ask another question of
the witness. Secondly, and I don't know which order you

want to go in, Mr Wilken is going to offer us some
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assistance regarding one of the photographs that we

looked at this morning.

CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much.
MR PENNICOTT: So perhaps Mr Khaw should go first.
CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MR KHAW: Perhaps one tends to be forgetful when one is

hungry, which unfortunately is what happened to me
before lunch.

Just on the quotation that I believe you have been
referred to, regarding the quotation for additional
work -- you understand?

Yes.

We have seen the quotation and perhaps we can take
a look at what you said in the transcript on that
particular point. That is Day 7, page 126, line 20,
where there's a question from Mr Pennicott:

"Sorry, Mr Poon, D1/825."

Yes.
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Q.

You can take it from me that that is the quotation.
"That's the gquotation that you gave; is that right?
Answer: Correct.

Question: As I understand it, this was for, if you
like, the face of the diaphragm wall that you were
quoting for?

Answer: Yes.

Question: This had nothing to do with the removal
of the concrete at the top of the diaphragm wall; this
was just for the face of the diaphragm wall, is that
right?

Answer: That's what I thought at first, but when
I started work, because it's daywork, and then I found
my workers also hacked the capping zone, the top of the
diaphragm wall."

Yes.

Just pausing here. Initially you were under the

impression that the work included in this quotation, ie

the additional work, was simply for the face of the
diaphragm wall and not the actually hacking off of the
diaphragm wall; right?

Yes.

So, eventually, were you or was your company responsible

for doing this hacking-off work, the actual hacking-off

work?

& A REIMOEAHIE -
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Q.

A.

Do you remember approximately when?
ME{EquotationZf&+H °
This quotation I remember was I think issued in August
20157
Yes, exactly.
So around that time-?
Yes.
Okay. With this in mind, I would like you to take
a look at another part of your transcript, on the same
day, Day 7, page 144.
Yes, got it.
If you can have a look at the first paragraph,
"Secondly" -- do you see that?
Yes.
"Secondly, I even saw gridline 45 to 48, east side,
there was someone putting a code in the diaphragm wall
and the rebar stopped before the diaphragm wall. I also
saw that when the diaphragm wall was chiselled, there
was not a proper cut-off level. Of course the cut-off
level should be 2.84."

I believe you somehow covered that earlier in your
evidence.
Yes.
Then:

"If someone reduced it by 600 or 700 to accommodate

the seven to 11 layers or five to seven layers of rebar,
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A.

Q.

then it makes sense, but that's not what I saw."
Pausing here, you referred to what you saw. Now,

was it at the time when your company was doing the

hacking-off work?

The wrong message come from the English translation of

the words in the fourth sentence of "code".

"Code™"™, yes.

I'm using a Cantonese "f", a bent bar.

Yes. That was what I was trying to clarify with you
again. So "code" here means --
Mean -- should be a bent bar, L-shaped, bent bar.

Bent bar, right.

CHAIRMAN: And the word is "bent", B-E-N-T?

MR KHAW: Yes.

A.

Q.

Yes.
Then if we can continue:
"It's like people sharpening a pencil. 1If you cut
a cross-section, sometimes the diaphragm wall became
an A-shape."
I don't quite understand what you said here. I want
you to clarify. So what did you see when you were

referring to this A-shaped diaphragm wall?

We can imagine --FWBtA[DIAHE(Ediaphragm wall{:1K2FE »
continuous » A DL RENEFE - -2 KM cutlg{#section » AIDL

HEEBVEEfIZRIE » sharpened in this section e
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Q.

A.

And what's wrong with that?

UHL S < ERIE A8 - couplerim MERRE » BIAREE(LE » a5
AR A 55

When you are refer to the A shape, were you referring to
this shape in the context of the concreted area or what?

The top, the capping zone of the diaphragm wall. Or it is

not really an A, but it is two chamfers (demonstrating).

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: It's tapered from both sides?

A.

Tapered.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.

MR KHAW: So did the A shape that you just described affect

any of the reinforcement or any part of the structure?
[FEHE LGS » A B (R A E B REE » (s LabFRRIHRE - SH{ERTH
shear face#MAIEEEL - MRELEUEBGRHEZEEREITEIL > so it
become lower > in a sharp shape > fiM{Etrack slabikis - HEES
WE(EA shapeft&Ef{Hpin joint » {EVEME(EEWL track slab > Mi45HE

J:’f/%:\\ uﬂmm{lﬁ:ﬂlu\ 2R

So you mean that is a deviation from the original
design?

& WHABRIPAEREAREE - B —(E R R4S ar rangement
structural arrangement ; 5 _{EFt{4 FEEIRC details @ H{4&EE

HENHE -

You are talking about -- if we are talking about the
east diaphragm wall --

Yes.
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Q. -- which part of the east diaphragm wall was affected by

what you just described to us?

A. Maybe we call it sections. Better to see in a section.
Q. Yes.
A. I will call a drawing to show the sections. Is it okay?

H350, we start from that drawing.
Wrong drawing.

Q. Maybe you can take a look at bundle C.

A. Okay.

Q. (C34/26494, and also 26495. Would they be able to help
you refer to any particular sections?

A. Yes, it's helpful. On 26494, in the lower left corner,
we have a type 1 section.

Q. Yes.

A, REMEERELHIE{Ediaphragm wall » IREJEAH—BEL - —EEREAE O
HAEBZEENE - HSEEG T2(0E “3, 0007 MIERIIRMESEEWL track
slab - [fiMfs/E FEMABEEE IR > si{siificantilever slab » Fifk
EWLfcantilever slab o HFEHRFFKEMHE - BIGeEROMEEIERE
AUAREISRVEER, o BEANIH AR S T E g 2

CHAIRMAN: All right. Tapered off by whom?

A. By Leighton staff.

CHAIRMAN: By Leighton staff?

A. By another Leighton sub-contractor who chiselled the

CHAIRMAN: Was it, in your opinion, at that time, in

accordance with the plans, to taper off in this way?
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A. No. No.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Can I just ask here, Mr Poon: so
what I'm seeing here on the type 1 section is that the
top of the section should be completely removed, the
concrete should be completely removed, for 450 to
550 millimetres?

A. Yes, approximately. Mm-hmm.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: And I think what you're saying --
well, tell me have I got this correct -- you are saying
rather than all of that being removed, it was left as
an A shape, it was left tapered, so parts were removed
at the sides but the middle still went up to the top

level? 1Is that what you are saying?

A, {ETHEMAITHEE]2 . 84ME » #AENL - top levelffIE2.84. ..

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Okay. So what you are saying is the
top level was removed down below the 2.847

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: But the full width of the diaphragm
wall was not taken down --

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: -- to the 450; it was left tapered
in the middle? 1Is that the evidence?

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.
A, R RIRER AP THEEE L - N £ RIREIREE - (E

diaphragm wallWi#ERi{EfacelfslmleEs til - SR alst(hik AIEEIE
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Fa L -
COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, I don't understand that

sentence.

A, HERIGEARZEANdiaphragn wal lMARHEELE - FrA G s s
ZF:2.84 » BH&ERIE{E A B original cut-off level 2.84 > My [
HBF T A & BB 2 3 - R4 AL - removelzil
concrete % » WyHIFHFLERIG MR - EAEEIRE 1% » FARIFTE
B

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Okay. Thank you.

MR KHAW: And if we are talking about the sharpened part of
the diaphragm wall that you just mentioned, before
concrete was poured, was this rectified, before concrete
was poured?

A. No. No. No.

Q. All right.

CHAIRMAN: But you were the one doing the pouring?

A. Yes.

CHATRMAN: And were you happy to pour, even though there had

not been rectification?

A. Not really. IAM » FAMMEBREEEEIH - (EBHIEEE R E N
Z1&versionl o

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, who's the "they"?

A. Andy IpWfugmy. . .

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Which party?

A. Leighton.
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MR KHAW: Just one final -- perhaps I will go back to my
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earlier question. The sharpened part of the diaphragm
wall, did it only occur to one part of the diaphragm
wall, or it applied to various parts of the diaphragm

wall?
K EFHgridline K24 5% |gridline$EiT 4 SRR I HVA 7205 25 1EL
B » FUFREIA ©

Perhaps a last issue that I wish to explore with you.
If we can take a look at the transcript, Day 8.

Yes.

Page 60, at the top of page 60 --

Yes.

-- you remember the chairman was asking you regarding
the percentage, and then there was just one answer from
you that I wish to discuss with you. That is line 4.
You said:

"Well, the drilled holes, that is something I heard
about. I haven't read all the documents. Just Leighton
alone, where they submitted an NCR to Intrafor, they
mentioned in one area they had missed some -- there were
some 200-plus pieces of couplers that were missing.
That's just one NCR."

Yes.
Now, here you said that's what you heard, and you went
on to say, "I haven't read all the documents." Now,

first of all, did you actually see any workers carrying

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

out the drilling works on the site?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. When was that?

A. A whole period of time. From August 2015
to I think July, et cetera, of 2016, including EWL and
NSL.

Q. At which particular area?

A. All. All areas.

Q. Now, in your evidence earlier today, ie before lunch,
I believe you told us a few incidents where there were
problems with the couplers.

A. Mmm.

Q. I think the second incident that you talked about, if
I can just retrieve the transcript of this: [draft] page
56, line 1:

"The coupler is about semi-exposed. It makes the
coupler itself become undone from the original fixing of
the embedded threaded bar. We saw some of the coupler
even drop onto the floor, and therefore a hole, a big
hole, was left on the diaphragm wall."

I would like to clarify with you on this. This
incident on page 56 that we've just seen, is it the same
incident or different incident, if we go back to page 60
of the transcript for Day 8 that we have just discussed?

A. Different. Different.

Q. So the incident you told us this morning was not covered
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by this NCR?

A. This morning » FRBFH CHEMIEE AT E A/ > LTl - BIAER RHRESS
SRR/ Tutom - AR (E EARSTL ~ /ST - (EEEAA5E 205 E -

CHAIRMAN: All right. And the bigger ones are for couplers?

A. Bigger ones is undoing of the couplers.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, the coupler has fallen out or become
dislodged and been taken out. And the smaller one?

A. The smaller one is post-drill. I think at that moment
it is a proper way to rectify the defective couplers.

CHAIRMAN: You rectified it by drilling --

A. At that moment, I think it is a proper method to rectify
the problematic couplers' connections, by means of
drilling holes, using RE500 to chemically grout the
dowel bar.

However, I am now thinking different, because of the
requirement of ductility.

MR KHAW: Mr Poon, all along, our understanding regarding
the alleged problems with the couplers, they appeared in
the EWL slab?

A. Mmm. Actually, no.

Q. Is that right-?

A. I think from the beginning of the mass media until the
very beginning of this Commission, I can observe everyone
has this opinion that the problematic condition is only
orient on EWL track slab. But we are not at this vision.

China Technology is seeing different area have different
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problems and overlapping problems, including NSL,
including the mid slab of area A, which is also talking
about the slab connecting to the diaphragm wall by
couplers originally.

MR KHAW: I have no further questions, but before I sit down
perhaps just one clarification regarding what
I mentioned this morning when I first went through the
emails and also conversations between Mr Poon and the
government officers. I made a suggestion that if there
is no controversy between us and Mr Poon, then it may
not be necessary to call all the government officers to
give evidence. That is only my suggestion. Of course
it's subject to what the Commission thinks at the end of
the day, and we will abide by that direction.

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, obviously we will look at that, if I may
say so, very helpful passage of cross-examination by
Mr Khaw.

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MR PENNICOTT: We will certainly look at that and advise the
government accordingly.

MR WILKEN: Sir, one point of clarification from me, and
this may be -- I stress no more than "may be" --
an example of the risks of unheralded forays into the
technical evidence with this particular witness, who is
obviously not a structural engineer.

Before lunch, we were taken to D1/594, a photograph
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which caused much confusion and puzzlement. We think
we've found out where this is -- we think. We think it
is the eastern D-wall connection, bay 1, NSL mezzanine
area A.
Our reasoning for that is as follows. There was
an NCR for this. 1It's in B5, the TS folder, the
technical submission folder, page 258, if that can be
pulled up. Hopefully it's on the system somewhere.
MR PENNICOTT: It is.
MR WILKEN: It's not on my screen yet.
COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Nor mine.
MR WILKEN: It's the first technical submission, the big
folder at the top with the disc -- that's the one -- and
it is 258. The fourth one down. Scroll down to 258,
please. You will see here "Details of non-conformance",
it gives you the area, NSL mezzanine level in area A,
"Exceedance of vertical tolerance by Imm to 400mm was
observed ..."
If you scroll down, "post-drill methodology" and
"LCAL records", so this would be remediated as per TQ.
Then the reason why we think it's this area, if you
go to 271 --
COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, Mr Wilken, a TQ?
MR WILKEN: Technical query.
COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.

MR WILKEN: You will see this looks remarkably like D1 -- as
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it's got "EH19" sprayed on the wall, I hope.

MR PENNICOTT: Wrong page.

MR WILKEN: I'm grateful to Mr Pennicott. Does he have

another a better reference.

WITNESS: It's EHO.

MR WILKEN: I agree. We can try it the other way, which is

from Fang Sheung's records -- we will try to track down
a precise photograph. We can get it the other way, from
Fang Sheung's records, at E5/1336.

You see here this is a photograph taken on
22 September 2015, which is why I noticed it over the
weekend. You will see it looks very like the previous
photograph, and you will see there:

"Discovered problem with hole-drilling and starter
bar installation.

Could not proceed with steel fixing work.

Leighton carried out rectification of hole-drilling
and starter bar installation work."

So those appear to us to dovetail.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Mr Wilken, what you are telling us,

I think, is it appears that this situation that Mr Poon
drew our attention to is covered by a non-conformance
report, and that remedial action was agreed, which was

the drilling of dowel bars in this location.

MR WILKEN: That's our current understanding, yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.
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MR WILKEN: Sir, unless I can assist further.

CHAIRMAN: No. Thank you.

Re-examination by MR TO

MR TO: Chairman and Commissioner, good afternoon.

Good afternoon, Mr Poon. I'm going to re-examine
you on a few questions, if I may.

Remember on Day 7, if you go to page 108 of the
transcript.
Yes. Got it.
Look at line 25 -- can you see that?
Yes.
Mr Pennicott was asking you something about Leighton's
check-in and also check-out time document; do you
remember that?
Yes.
Before I show you the check-in/check-out time document,
which is C8/5720, I'd like to ask you a few questions,
if I may, just for clarification.
Okay.
Can you explain to us what is the process of going into

a construction site in Leighton?

MR PENNICOTT: This construction site?

MR TO: 1In this construction site.

A.

Okay. First » E{ElabourstEl{E A St BEA L FFMBIAE T A
BRI ESCH: » VERTIEC R o TR - B BB A s i e -
IEBEAAHEs i CeBBRRIEAA - 413 » (ERETES HIEREILA M ATDLA
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IR - NREF WA AR HEE &Mk —A T A
s i HE B e > WL A AR ME(E s e cur e Ml 25 2 A K -

Q. Okay. Can I take you to C8/5720.

A. Okay.

Q. What can you tell us from this diagram or this monthly
employee report?

AL We—fE G H B EREE A —{l H s e E A 1S g T —
e - -WEEH A B - FECHRHESL A H (] - (B EHER
WEVENE -+ — H SRS — H AR T A (0L > Feitie] Ll ESIE -~ Bl % fhpage
8 per 12 HWTTHT/ HBERLEIVE (D L AHERRHEH - (EE REEE A - e
FEfT Ay - B EE TR - B E--UeEE—HW > RS —HFEHEAHcover
page#H T AL > [ERAYE(EperiodisfE » VelEFmEZ h - —(E - last
document o MHERMH . . .

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, I thought I saw a period with
dates.

WITNESS: On August.

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, if you go to page 12, go down 12 pages
from 5713. Stop there. Go up one page.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Yes.

MR PENNICOTT: There it is, at the end, bottom left-hand

corner.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Yes. That's what I got.
A.  Okay - WEEZE—(& » Bl Py HEEEH (it b ETeE e &2

(indicating) -
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Fo B XHAEE - BAEE - AE R AE AR T 2408
WL - RS (BRERIER - - IC R FIMH R R - AT B AT ST
WELE ARIACEREL > FREGBERAI TGRS AR - s LIEZ AR - MR EsL
7 BT ARTE - WAL AT LUHZEETEA - IR ] DA FollE Z:47
FEFTHRHIE B T-C B 2% R R L -

&= PAFRCIEUE(EEE T4k rT DA » TR Ryt #]meRiR ] o 48 SRl 4
By NZ g ~ A gL > BERRKS > REHR - BT R - ik
e {1l Hi 4 f ek A e B EhRe ] > LR A - T AAPoRERE - At At R 2 =]
HIEHREEAST R - feHECK LV RE - 4 - AT RERE I8y - EEE
RRIZHTREE © MEFEREREE RS — ZH > RITRA > RAZE - R A(E
turnstileffwork®} - [E{RACERIET BEATTIEL - WEEHLIATE [EFRBEAL MR -

MR TO: Is there anything else in this diagram you can tell

us, anything further?

A, UEERASEEVEREcolunnfkE el - Bk LEGEBILETHHER
B - SLEZHE - - KB G BT T-RAC iR -

Q. Remember someone asked a question about the colour of
this diagram?

A, FfE-e

Q. So can you tell us something about the colour?

A, HFZ A > BMAMIRIIE - HFFHIFESEEIIM > "Work day” HHEE
ENIIMER AR H O - 572K ©

Q. Can you maybe focus on just your record.

A. Yes. Frecord HFHH K - [ElfpweekdaylilfE - BfrshERITTEITE
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BERR--%LHRIA.5H » 9.5K » (BAHIEEER A ent ryBist (A
— =W f-RN-tE = = s
10 15.50% » FrLAE9 . ST iE - EfARk E—1T - AUIBES7110E{Po
Cheuk Yin > {EH9 daysWhf > Mi{Ework day - Kit#EZE [Eentry
— SO~ T N s N T R EREES

SEGE PR EE(E A o BRI EME(EPun Pradip > {Ef&
=fBwork day®} » (EIREMA = Hentry -

Can you focus on —-- remember I asked you the question --

the colour?
i > BHES > sorry v colour » BHERMATAR —E UL E AR EE
FRAR - 0f B R B e 1 FEr = [ R FEE — o P ok B M G A ) ] R AR o P el
show#HEEREhours » NI EIERE#E » FkfEient ryA =(EEEEE - 5t
Sy o8 OSRERNE — 8 - [FIH L SHREEIE —(EEETHE ALy 8 - [Hik
HRFIF L atelEfr - BEHEA G T 08 - REERHIER G — » Bk
FRIFVEEACERST AT - WRIE G B Econsistentf 5 MEE— » Bk
it SR PO H 125% » HE AR IBEL 3350 - ho H 185751580673 5EiR -
FeF TR ABAEATALEIER © VEERLGRIFIABETE 25 - WEME B Eh 2478 S e
— IR -
Mr Poon, the reason I'm asking you this question is
because three persons of -- my learned friends asked you
this question.

Let's move on. If you go to C8/6172, this was

basically mentioned in Day 9 of the transcript,

page 121, paragraph 11.
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A.

You can see that diagram there. C8/6172.

Let's take you to the transcript, Day 9, page 121,
line 11. Can you see that?
BhE -
I will just read it out to you. It's line 11:

"Can you look at C8/6172. This is in/out record for
Hung Hom site."
Yes.
Your answer is "Yes". The next question:

"In fact, there's no record of you all signing in
for September 2017.

Answer: I won't repeat that point."

I'm not going to go on. Do you see that?
Mmm .
But can you tell us, by looking back at that diagram,
C8/6172, is there any sign-in/sign-out of your name?
711
Can you tell us something about that?

RRBTATITR > BRI TREAEEE AR > FALEDoRI(E RS ARIEE -

So, in a way, you went in there through another sort of

entry point?
SRMRF TR PR EE T (R e B A > T B2 s Ern i A (BRI - Fr AR SE s
T TRt AFIHA -
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Q.

Let's move on. In terms of the transcript, Day 8,
page 134.

Yes.

Just reading this out to you, on line -- I will just

read, for example, line 2:
"My question was, if it was unreliable, what use
does it have for the purpose of preparing your payroll?
Answer: One of the documents."
Hmm.

What does that mean?
R R gy - - B A ST A SRR - SRR AR A RIS T 5%
EEExce IRESTHME - A (E BB 240k HExce L format &--
Microsoft Excelffiformat[Eat#taif - A 5 CEESLEEES] - FiR
IIERIGRT » KO- 7o S5 e - R4S T BRI iy # e R
BATor8# > FRBHERE G NS EfESREL - FRBRLATL H CExce LIfH{H
forma tME{E Z470 8 SRR - BT DA R S0 T R A eI e
We—FFMg— IR > B T g A —{fHaccount clerk Alfy
VEE(HExcel ¥ » JRIESS—ITE » B S i 25 fH FE MBS =] A e ey
ganger » AHEHEY T ARRMHETRLAR - EAEERLARMEE -
et HEES T 8MBE - 128 - o - BUEREHFTEEAEE A T EREEE TR
Pt LAFRIE A SR A SR A e R R - TN 1% 25 B i e e AL B R LR
FERWE > BT DA P AR (A SRR o B DARBEEEIE () S04
———H i — Bt AR - E(ARIRBE % 5E RAREETE (S - R E T

EHExcelF -
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Q. How many other documents do you have to rely on?

A, EEEGRCCEER > BIHRRIERMETCExce IR Z1% - (EEHYERETA
B EHAERBREELCE: - B AR & & H Cwhat sApp
chart®if > {fiWwhatsApp discussion chartZEif @ FE=EH—MH %%
NFIREE A %S N O RIER 4 -

Q. Okay. I will move on.

If you go to the transcript, Day 7, page 64 -- can
we start at 63.
A. Okay.
Q. This is where the chairman asked some questions. I will

just read it out to you, at page 63, line 24:

"... '"I've seen people not putting into couplers but
just cutting these things.' Why would you have then
said, 'Wow, this is something I've got to remember, this
is serious, this could be damaging and I must pursue the
matter further'?

Answer: My company does bar bending as well. We
have about $60 million worth of bar bending business.
It's far more than what this other sub-contractor is
doing. If we handle couplers in Hong Kong, we will
watch it all the time. The bars must be screwed in
100 per cent under inspection and we have to use
a torque."

So my question is: what do you mean by the last

sentence?
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A, HRUEMEABD A —feiti FcouplerffH i —{Econdition » E44
fElconditionlE—E100%ERHEH A LR - AiF 4550 » ARFERTIEEHD
MBS - B(AEE—fikcoupler FIHIBILLE RE » iR (AEHEEE -
B XA - B R TR —EE K EcouplerE » #0100 HEEMHR
AR AL > HEERUCE - A SIEECE - A A torquelk »
O AT RS REE - FRmt A SIEHEC AL & S NHBER. TR BN - BAnE
#77 WERE > BB EEE - SRR U ACAHEIRE -

Q. So let's move down a bit, in terms of the chairman said
something else. At line 10:

"I appreciate that, but we're not talking couplers
here. We're talking about the bars."

Your next answer was:

"At Hung Hom Station we saw all of a sudden there
was no supervision at all, it seems, and we thought it

was strange."

What are you implying here or what do you mean?

A, HEWGRES  HIHEH AcouplerlE{HEE(A—E%F through inspection >
Rffehid REE AR, - s —E TGS E OISR —EART--
TR TAZANEE ARG SRS - SEEEE—(E A LA 3 HHE R
ETABCH @ TEERT LI S TE G2 Bt 7 -

Q. Okay. Let's move on. Let's go to the transcript on
Day 7, page 55, line 9.

A. Yes.

Q. I will just read it out to you:
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"So what he's reporting is, 'I've just seen some
people cutting some bars, I don't know why but I've seen
them cutting bars.' There could be an entirely sensible
reason for doing that. I mean, why would you have even
taken any notice of that? Is it because cutting of bars
was strictly prohibited? 1Is it because there was some
else that led you to be suspicious?"

I'm not going to read the whole lot. Your answer is
at the very bottom, I'm trying to look at, the very last
line -- you said:

"This is a very important issue to me. 1In
Hong Kong, that is not our standard."

What you are implying here? What do you mean?
R By - -5l - BTG A EH 1517 » BMAGESE55Htranscript » MAfH
cutting barsHEH4IEERcuttingffithread sections -- threaded
sections » RRUHMIEVE A EE T » REA » cut& B Ea—E AT
17 5% N BB R (A n] e — -8 ] AR » RS E A B i A a(E coupler
IR 2 SRR e P A — T R, - (R AR A @ E R E AT RS
{EHlcoupler{EREEL T4 » Fr AR A E R AE ] DIREZ -

Okay. I will move on to the next point.
You have been actually -- I will go to page 79 of
Day 7 of the transcript, line 5.
Yes.
Your answer is:

"Yes. In my statement, and at the investigation
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carried out by the MTRC held on 13 July, I think there
was a sentence taken away. The MTRC should have told
what I had told them back then. The MTRC know this.

I was talking about corruption. Leighton -- we have
Karl Speed here --"

So what are you saying there, and also, before you
continue to say anything, just look at the date. 1Is
this date —--

Should be 13 June.
June 137
On line 6.

Can you tell us what you mean by this?

PRI Ryt H 1 35 B SRAE A A 5 - FRAGE AR 00 8 e — g
corruption » WefETRER I IE AR A RE R FREEAFE 2 cu tIfiEE
TRAERE -

Thank you for that.

Can I show the Chairman and the Commissioner

a document B3082.

MR PENNICOTT: It's in Bb5.

MR TO: Chairman and Commissioner, this is 13 June 2018.

This is the interview schedule by which the witness
attended the MTRC meeting.

Can I take you to a document called G1803. This is
a written note of the meeting, and if you go to G1806,
you see at the very -- in terms of item Q at the bottom,

question, the very last one:
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"Any information that you think MTRC should know?"
And there are two points:
"It is the Leighton's staff doing the sub-con work."
And the second point is:
"Corruption is serious on site."
And the meeting concluded at 10.30 pm on 13 June.
Okay, we will move on.

A. Okay.

Q. Can I take you to Day 9 of the transcript.

A. Yes.

Q. Page 18.

A. Yes.
Q. You were asked some questions. I will just read from --
an easy one —- I will just read from maybe line 16:

"The subject matter is whether there is any planned,
systematic cutting, Mr Poon; correct?

Answer: Of Leighton?

Question: Whether there is any planned or
systematic cutting of rebars.

Answer: Okay."

So what are you trying to convey here?

A. Yes. I mean "yes".
Q. So you are saying "yes"?
A. Mmm.

Q. Okay. Now, you mentioned certain things about NCR, also

the transcript on Day 9, page 154 -- maybe go to 153
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first.
A. Yes.

Q. Your answer at line 19 on page 153, you said:

"The cutting of rebar evidence is concrete, it's not

flimsy. We see from photos, from the bars screwed in,

there is concrete evidence, solid evidence. Also,
the NCR issued by MTRC to Leighton, this is solid
evidence.

Chairman: Sorry, a mental block for a moment.
What's an NCR again?

Mr Shieh: Non-conformance report.

Chairman: Thank you."

So why mention NCR in here?

A, NRERFEEAITRE cut M FEAURT DA R ES R 2
e A - PEn T A SRR EIREAT A A i solidkE BRI AR
AL o 1 [EHE R R EMAC2 0MA I SC IR > RIAFETEEIC] bundleliC20
HO L - - AR e —(EINCRIGTH - HR[EIF M (Eobservationfa—Hg] -

HEA AT - AEFEREWHIHHAZL » ves

Q. Okay. Can I take the Chairman and the Commissioner to
a document called 4121. Chairman and Commissioner,

is a document called "Non-conformance report", it's

number 157.

If you go to the next page, at 4122, you will see

here, "Details of defective work:

Threaded bars at 3 metre thickness EWL slab
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hadn't screwed", and I'm not going to read the whole

thing but it says it hadn't been screwed in. This was

rectified and it was rectified on 18 December 2015.
Okay, we will move on. Remember you were shown

a document called C80007?

MR WILKEN: Sorry, sir, I think there's some confusion in

the rows as to whether there are any questions here or
whether we are just having documents read into the

transcript.

MR TO: Okay. So the question is, Mr Poon, what do you make

of this document?

MR PENNICOTT: I'm not sure that's right. I was just about

to leap to my feet before Mr Wilken did. If you've got
a specific question to ask about a particular document,
please ask it, but we can't just have it, as we are

having, "What do you say about this" or "Would you like

to comment?" Let's have a specific question.

MR TO: No problem. I'll move on.

In terms of the confidentiality agreement, in the
transcript, Day 7, page 3, in line 14.
Yes.
"When I spoke to the media or the public about this
case, my principle has always been to tell the truth."
Mmm .
My question is: you have signed a confidentiality

agreement?
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A.

Q.

Yes.
By signing a confidentiality agreement, how can you tell

the media the truth?
TR B GEEE M IE A 2R EA - WG T Ry R e R L Ef
FCEPHEIES -

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, I don't understand that. I've got a bit

of a problem with that.
HHEERRZ RS TRIRE - FrAE RS —# top i cBEE AT — (15
PTG FAREEE - B UG AR RE - T CHUZ REUESE

JERE NS T - PR ST BT — S (R R -

CHAIRMAN: All right. Thank you.

MR TO: Let's turn to the document C8000. This is

a document that's been mentioned quite a lot of times.
Oh, confidential, okay.
Yes.
Mr Poon, when was this document executed?
2017F9H18 -
If you go to C8003.
% -
If you see the line "Executed as an agreement on", it's
blank?
FE ZEHEE
Why is that?
N Ry SR EE - - N R — P --e— R M1k - (o SXERE R RRA
GG RIE R g HE B o (REE T RIS R - stihah TR
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e I HEHRTEMEE > 2 AR AEERRR EEEH > A
LUl date EHRHARTEEEE - TE 00 SO H Bk w e —im
Who signed it the last, this agreement?

kPt T wh (R 2 o TR > BOAAEE 2 H B -
IEECF5Z H » MKarl SpeedEMIELERIAZ - EREBIBE - 210
Bt 28 - FRALEA - (B RUE () SRl 2 75 Ht 4K (4 1 0 H DERHEF (5208 -

I want to ask you a question relating to this document.
Last week, you mentioned that this document was signed
because certain agreements were made?

Yes.

Could you tell us what agreements were made? I can

refer you to the transcript if you want to.

BRI o A AIRERAT R A - H A & A o 2 ek B L B e
B E TR > H AR AEARVE(E1112MEH final account »
ERNHEEfinal accountffiSAEE R EIRIEEL - EE S —(E
CISHfASHEEE » FhisAnthony[E#Karl Speedf Kk Eus A & wH A58
St > BIMAGERE TAZ - (R R EEEAL IR A2 (T A FRIAT R - (B AR
PSR (EAEREME RIS - (AR E G RS L
FAF Tt N T AL VR — PRI FRK:

i H # s — (B b P AR EE - k201 6 FF 11 H 115 A
FETEH#g > A8 fatal incident > IE{H—E# 4K [EKarl SpeedZ[ELL
UK 5 T LA UG ]V 5 EROER, > W (A& ik H 9 H 1 85N (A a2 —
(EARTUERLE, o BRAFRBHRED AT IR » AR PRERE » EIFARLIME 5}

BT RABREBEAME - HERmO AR - ralwys - EAHE
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B/ D/ Viffde fect BRI » BIAMEARWEINE - THE—(E&ifiiconfirm
TRt B AT AR e iR - RIB I A S IHE A - R AN RIE S
T VR o SR b o 250 AT A R S RS R S R AR

Wi 27 A [Hagreement » FLAREVET DR inha ARl - (8 PR T8N
BARGRE TR - T EZ 5 I PR a0 S T e — Y 90 B (R
CUFEVEAS TR ARSI IR AR - (EAR4E T (7 10 LD RERRH 277 - ER{FAnthony
JEAR P — B e =7 A P8 - - B (A i L (E ER R AR R - {EL(5 S
GEIRATHL -

Q. But in the end you signed that agreement anyway?

A, EWE e

Q. Why?

A, HEHEEREERA TS - CHE B AGIREASEGEEE - KRS
THZ FERIAN - BRI — Pt Rt E—E 27N FFEanthonylfk
sitefElRiE - FVEAEE 05 ELEMH(ERE LIS TS ERIN R - MoR[EEREE I -
AT AL ([ - - — (RS » sorry » TRk - — B - - HLE i E] K o
EWL track slab UHZASMARTEREET - P SR EmEt s R i
B BB IR AR - BB SR AKar]l SpeedEAnthony K -
TEHEE ST - S REKLEFHE—ER > rIREEERHE - A
REGHRYE - AR EAFERE - (FEE w2 n -

M ERA —(E SRS RS EEE - SiissBD St B TA @ E - e
{E IR U Ebundle » FEEMbundl eMEH AN - SEIE(AIHE o HLBF Bk
Tt THAR » A e s - BB AH %R HBDEIEOKRME - FrAIERES

YRR ABDA R - [EMCE i L - Bam EiEZ Cilthsatis £y IR
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approval ¢ KE[20174F9 HAGEBETE(ECLIEARE » BDEACHEELER - 7
=R (HIARRREFRSA - WaEoundleBEE] » JFAHLHEMIHL A HELS -
Bl{&Mf{fexcavation and lateral supportffisystem - [GHE{#H
diaphragm walllfcompletion » FEIE(A{EEWL track slab °

HIH % -
I just want to take you to Day 7 of the transcript,
page 86, line 24.
Yes.
Certain individuals in this room, some of them got it
and some of them didn't get it. You said -- someone
asked the question:

"Who is gaining any advantage, and what is it, from
this process?

Answer: Definitely there is advantage for
Fang Sheung."
Mmm .
Okay? I'm not going to read the rest. What do you mean

by advantage of the process?

AHANRZ AW > fsme(E B GO BEE R R A B (E R AT L
FEAA PRI AR » ARSI (502 2R & 4 3 [ B A o2 PR PR T 0 » 1R A\ 1B
il > FESZ E PR S THIERZ L AT 5758 5502 A EE - DRI R 2 FE B -

re-measurement Wi > FEEFTA > TR o VEMEQSEE T EEIEE -
P AR R BN Z AVARIB R L T AL LME  IEREE KEREL LR E EmA

/

TAF > AABEME  BHEREFRENRMEBS - frblEGE ERREHEREE -
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Q.

Q.

Okay. Then if you go to page 88 of Day 7 again, of the

transcript.

Yes.

The chairman asked you a question. He says at line 17:

"... have you ever sat down with anybody who's
an executive in Leightons and had a heart-to-heart
conversation in which you have received a confession
that this type of corruption goes on?

Answer: Yes. Malcolm, Malcolm Plummer."

So my question is: what kind of conversation did you

have with Mr Malcolm Plummer?

A Ry E B IEE A SR (E AR 7T - BIARED RS H IR - PR — R s
SR L ST R E {181 185 o ] 25 e {1 P 02 (R e B e 5 28 > B
Malcolmf{#A [FEEL » (EAEFRIEMERAMEE 903 ~ 904 A4S MREE i REr
WRR] - {EER S EE B A DU ERE] - 903 ~ 904 HE MU AKLHIIGH—team A

BAEEAL RIS TS —team A » Wi—teamEHE A\ BEIHEATGR A S E—E TR

s

DR, > SR (5t S e P B A R T B ot A -
So in terms of Malcolm Plummer, how many types of
conversations did you have with him relating to this

matter?

SIUER - [N A HEEEREHEEAWA PSR S ER PR - 5
B8 & Bk ERMBEE R - AIGIEEEEIE(E - RELHERIEEE

FL AR > BHAF I EE & (A -

And what did Mr Plummer do afterwards?

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, you won't do what?
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A.

Corruption.

MR TO: So what did Mr Plummer do afterwards?

A.

"Take care of yourself."
Who said that?
Malcolm Plummer.

"Take care of yourself", what does that mean?
BIAGEICE Car4r RS - (BAEETTRMNH S —EEH A & HEEs -
PHRRVEAF 2 -
Okay. Let's move on. Mr Pennicott mentioned a few
things about the gap in reporting. It's in Day 8 --
I will just go straight to that -- page 20 of the
transcript, line 6.
Yes.
I will just read it out:

"Why did you wait nine months to send a chaser?

Answer: Because, on 15 September -- actually, since
the beginning of September, the work for which we were
responsible was also completed, and that included the
rectification. Now, actually, at the time, I already
left the site myself. At the time, I think there was
one foreman with a few or up to ten people on site,
that's what's left. So it's almost time that we had to
leave altogether."

You haven't answered Mr Pennicott's question, have
you?

HEF20176EMEL H 659% - E R HYESE — TS LR - BT e L -
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R P S tEREE  (EGIECESERaynondiFRELS TR I - EfAHEEE -

(EERFIERIEL ARG - (BB E eI EAM R - Fr APt A5 - B -
N RRaymond HE LA AT - - FAmad I & > BL{RPhilcoliilef3 i
HAmEE A —EEEAER - TS E (A SRR &5 AER
FRERUEMFE » ERFERRSE R B R EEEEL > BOREL R - PFR SR E(E -

Bfa/\ME A Z1% > FH-—E TR - BI(AE Tt =] —E Rk
Toeds > HEERREHA - AP AR SHAARMAEL - Fr ATBHG R &
Anthony > fRUcificommercial Z 4 - Frufe s — oyt b Rz IR isoe 3
HOEEFHE Z A - ST AR B EAAYER - B Anthony {HRREEELAZK
FEE R - LEE9 H 1555 H SnE(E » IRAFECHEM FHEEEREER " 3
MRMERRT > TG > ATl > REC EEBFE - ) BFEHorderst
B frm o Fr ABER G D i e (55 - BL(ATH - BT DAt E%9 H
--1H 65t A F19 A 155k /\fH H IRt 2 i - - i > #EFLER -
JNEH -

If you go to C7987, that's one of your famous emails.
Yes.
If you look at the very top of that email, and you've
been shown previously this email, you say:

"Dear Anthony,

It's already 8 months after our report on the
captioned concerns on structural safety."
Mmm .
A few days last week, you were asked questions relating

to why wait eight months, and why issue this email and
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also why not any other correspondence whatsoever before
this email? What would you like to say about that?

MR PENNICOTT: He's just answered that one. We've had that
one already.

A, FRFTREAS > BHOCTRARRRVE -

MR TO: Okay, so you don't want to say anything further.

Now, yesterday you were pretty strong about showing

us a document relating to B2 or B5. Remember that

document?

ik

A, f&o R B BCRS  EREETe H 1557 -
Q. Mr Boulding did read out certain paragraphs of that

report; am I correct in saying that?
A, fre
Q. Do you have anything you want to say further about this?
MR BOULDING: Sir, that's not re-examination.
MR TO: Okay, I will rephrase it.
Mr Poon, the question last week was: you didn't tell
MTRC. You did not tell MTRC. Someone else told MTRC,
according to this report.
CHAIRMAN: Sorry, I'm just not sure which
MR TO: Maybe I'll take you to the paragraph.
CHATRMAN: Yes, thank you. Bb5.
MR TO: Give me one second. If you look at the top of B5,
sir, I'll just read it out:
"Based on the recollections of all the current and

ex-MTRCL staff members interviewed, none of them
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actually witnessed the threaded sections of the
reinforcement steel bars being cut. However, two
members of site staff recall either seeing themselves or
having reported to them evidence that such cutting had
taken place, such as a gap between a threaded steel bar
and a coupler connection to the cut ends of threaded
steel bars."

So my question is, if these colleagues from MTRC
said you mentioned this, why not practically state your
name or even the company there? Why would they say
"reported to them"?

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, this witness can't answer that question.
Only the MTRC can answer that.
MR TO: Okay. I will move on then.
Now, in terms of Day 8 of the transcript --
CHATIRMAN: But, sorry, that document -- I may have a poor
memory of it, but that document, when you read it as
a whole, seems to be talking about MTRC personnel,
doesn't it?
MR PENNICOTT: That part of it, certainly, yes.
MR TO: Sorry about that.
Day 8, page 32.
A. Yes.
Q. At line 8, the chairman said:
"But in broad terms, you're referring to 30,000

defective connections into diaphragm walls or other
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walls or other connections?

Answer: In the whole project. I'm saying in the
whole project.

Chairman: All right. Between couplers and rebars?

Answer: Yes.

Chairman: Right. So you worked out with your own
arithmetic that there must be at least 30,000 --

Answer: Yes, I think so.

Chairman: -- such suspect --

Answer: Questionable."

What does "questionable" --

A. "Questionable" means I'm not 100 per cent certain these
30,000 pieces of connections are problem. But they are
questionable to me, with reasonable doubts that they are
defective connections.

Q. Okay. I'll just move on.

In terms of -- there's a letter you were shown,
C7984.

A. Yes.

Q. At Day 8 of the transcript, which we don't need to refer
to, there were questions about why insert paragraphs 7
and 8, because remember you said you split them, in

terms of commercial and other things. Why include them?

A, ARIEERERRARESEREE R OB - (BAEF1201 749 H HGEE 2R
AR T EL R N B AR B AR — 251 TAZE - P DA OBk
B FRLAA B #imix uplfelEf -
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Q. Okay. I have another one. In terms of C8006.
Maybe finish this one and we'll have a tea break,

Chairman?

CHAIRMAN: Yes, certainly.

MR TO: This email --

WITNESS: If not too long, maybe we can defer the tea break
so I can go?

CHAIRMAN: Is it a long question?

MR TO: ©Not a long question.

CHAIRMAN: All right. We'll have this question.

MR TO: C8006. This is the famous email you wrote to the
Transport Bureau?

A. Yes.

0. So this is dated 18 September?

A. Yes.
Q. If you look at it, the second line of this email, you
say:
"... reached satisfactory understanding and full
clarification ..."

MR PENNICOTT: The second line.
MR TO: The second line.
A. Yes. Yes.

Q. Why did you issue this email?

A B R R E g Funde reake » EB—HTEEHRE
RS - - PSR 73 2 W E (o t SRS - P SR S cut S
VR TRARE » B TR AT (e TR 3 e g -
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Q. Just this last question. You wrote a letter to Frank
Chan, an email, saying there are problems, and
subsequently you wrote another letter to Mr Leung,
saying there's no problems. Wouldn't that create
a controversy in terms of, one, you say there's problems
and subsequently you say there was no problems?

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, you have to help me again. Put it into
context.

MR TO: Put in context, if he wrote a letter to Frank Chan
saying there were problems, and subsequently very
briefly he wrote another letter to Mr Leung saying there
are no problems now.

CHAIRMAN: I have fallen behind on this. We probably need
the tea break.

MR TO: All right. I will come back to it.

CHAIRMAN: I think Mr Poon probably also needs the tea
break. 15 minutes.

(3.43 pm)

(A short adjournment)

(3.58 pm)

MR TO: Chairman and Commissioner, I'll be qgquick.
CHATIRMAN: Yes.

MR TO: Let's move to the transcript of Day 8, page 90.
A. Yes.

Q. Have you got that, Mr Poon? If you look at line 2 --

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

122
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

this question was asked this morning as well:

"In March 2018, you sent an invoice to Leighton for
approximately $14 million."

I will move to page 91, line 20.
Yes.
"It was never paid. It was a typical Leighton
practice."

What do you mean by that?
902 ~ SE37THAMH L T4 0 0B WL (A4 9 H 1 85RIERTAE » 1CUHZERFHIEE— i)

A8 2R [E] P — DS — - AR e 5 et AR A SR TRRTAE © 191 H

S5 2017 » BRAGHREE T/ AR 88 57 et - POREMFEE (Al t ypica lIEGTIR
practicelg ? HEGIHEGA KB ME - EHREGHGEH - (SIHAL
7| S SRS SR DN W SE U ULIVERS BB NE AR AR FE U e b AR Vi 22 e
HEUEFEEE - JO Y AR - AR ERG A e - BAREERT) -
To move on, if you go to C40. Rather than show you the
exhibit, I'll just show you the diagram. C1/40.
Okay.
You were shown last week, and this was mentioned a few
times, this cutter.
Yes.
You said it was a hydraulic cutter and someone said it

is a different type of cutter. 1Is this the type of

cutter that you saw?
— R KAE » BB - 55 IR ARTE(E -

So, from this diagram, what can you see from the
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Q.

diagram?
P FNEE - -BMfA{&EEIMr Hansfordgis#elE(EN “band saw” - FKH
#H “band saw’ WHPA - WUREVE AR TEIRE o HEVEMR{E 5E ROV E T ER SRR I
L

Anything else you want to say about this diagram?

MR PENNICOTT: Well, no.

A.

No.

MR TO: We move on quickly to Day 9, page 90.

A.

Q.

Yes.
There were a few gquestions asked of you on this and you
mentioned something about this this morning.

I will just read from line 9:

"The next box, you say:

'In fact, Leighton had imposed 2 conditions
precedent -- first, Poon must stay silent on the
defective steel [bars]; and second, Poon must cooperate
with Leighton concerning the Liantang fatal accident.'

What I suggest to you is there was no such
additional conditions precedent accompanying the offer
of 6 million. Do you accept that?

Answer: I don't agree."

Then you don't really explain anything further.

What do you mean by that?

{EMHAREE - W6 B HEIR10 HFiA » 2016510 ABfRIEHE &K under

payment - BIAELEHIT/ VeI - B8 (G B 2R > BigEK
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Bt AA {8 - Feme s 5 E (BRI S ER A B - PECEREI20164F
E12 A %) > TR S T E R R - (S — 2 AR —T
CERE R - BAT At R B G TR B AR — T T 2 R (R
(IR > FrPAig12 H > EEECISHR 0B 125 2 [ » et e — (&Y
milestone payment ° FL{REETTAVEMEL » —2K Pt ] DLgEIIEE -
TR AN R DAOREEIRER(E L - [FIHE A ER(Emilestone payment
WA {E R R4 > Hohol 6 B HLE e A 1 2 H PSR AL s 5 Bt
BECIHETRAE RA T -

RENHY] > 1HASHE - ESRET > 775 L > F AR
W (B RIRIERR R AR (E A E TIE - (VRS - Blahke a5

A% > pEIUBGE A - BMETGET R > Anthony it [FHGEYE

— > W o Hp R - - W E 2SN Hh—{fff--{Hbasis -

{Ebas isELiAah AR L - 8L - SN E GO RS
TEVE(E A BB SAIE(FEE - Ny E R EA 1 2 FH ERRHE: - BI(mtuikiE 30

—{E HZHAl » AnthonyJe FEak /A BRI RL (15 PR E (- S5 e -

iM5s—J5H » B ZERIREEE EG RS MEE > BlfAf{Efatal case

aff > KR A R (Epartneril > R E AT -PRHEH S — R A=
FEWAWE > FEWAL EMHEHALLEEEEEEL - WiKarl SpeedFrséERTA M L
BRI RIS — MR - PRIA R ER (AR LR > HE PRERH
fRE N o AR (Efatal incidentEAUBEIEMEE > BLEEE
Bt AT RE K BB BT - FrLAMRMEEE fata LIESE(T L > PRARERRF S - B
PR A S i B - s m] DA o el R i — et - 1 & LB e it
BRI - BRI R > (TREDRIAE A EEE N - CHE R R
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MEZEIEEL & o FrA AR - 55 TR AT S AERLF - #E
a] DL feworkmanship > IER[ DU Frbehavioural BERERE -

[FEHELFOMFAE —EHpoint » I FWE(Epoint » FECFHMA-—EHF TR
SEZ1%  FBNZEVE(EEE LR - SPRERSE T - ) - wR
BREMpoint 5% » MUEMIpo int AIRIEFREZEL - HlaatiiiE 5415
AR B A 1L (5 A e Bt sy -

Q. Okay, Mr Poon. I just have a few more questions and I'm
going to finish.

In terms of transcript Day 10, page 143.

A. {4 yes-

Q. Mr Boulding, my learned friend said -- he just basically
said, at the top, line 1:

"And you had witnessed that. Why were you concerned
about alerting them?"

Basically, you said:

"Actually, if you take pictures of people in the
construction site, you'll get your phone thrashed.

Question: Oh, well.

Chairman: Sorry, 'you get thrown' or 'phone'?"

So what are you trying to say here?

CHAIRMAN: I think it's obvious, isn't it, from just reading
it? In other words, if you take a blatant photograph of
one of the workers, he may not view that with kindness
and may take your telephone and break it?

MR PENNICOTT: Indeed.
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CHAIRMAN: Or bash it.
A. Yes, exactly.

MR TO: Okay. Thank you. Move on.

This morning you were taken to a document called
B13674. That's from the MTR, Raymond Au. Do you
remember seeing this?

Yes.
I will take you to paragraph 3. Mr Au said, at the very
last line:

"... and I only had one very short telephone
conversation with him as set out below."

And you answered this morning that is not correct.
Mmm .

Can I show you another document which you mentioned this
morning. D722.

Yes.

If you go to the next page, D723 --

Yes.

-- first of all, can you tell us what these documents

are?

D723 to 726 » FIABIIEH TS A0 b EE R BT L e LR TS
GRS TOURDT22 » ECBER R UL B S P — (A ot o T A 2,
42k > Philco WonglFlHERaymonaZtE RIS » e Wi 5T

4254 HAT22BHERED: Philco Wonglf o HNATHEEREREE 7338

F{4Raymond Aulf » ARLIFRBHBHEEE S initial » Eir AR “PW” > stand
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o

for Philco Wong:® “R” stand for Raymond @ [REFKIEZLEERaymond
O - PR TR AT g -
e P T EEERaymond sk - FBA201 7481 H 6555201 74K]
9 H 155 IR EMERTEEE total s /\ R » WEM AR > LIRIFAN0ES
WA AR ATET R L > TRE TR IR R T ER EL A - N R IS R4Cs: -
HA RS TR SR i DU -

Q. Okay. So 722 is a summary?

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, before we move from there,
some of them are about three seconds or four seconds; is
that right?

A, ko NEHETR  HriEsE -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: You can't say much in three or four
seconds, or I can't.

MR TO: So this is a summary -- D7227

A. Yes.

Q. So we move on. If you go to D723.

A. Yes.

Q. So you've written at the bottom there, "PW", so that's

Philco Wong?

A.  Yes > W10 95% > BI{AGEMAD7 2 3R /E T8 - M TR “pw”
EL ] - MERE(AROH 12572 E 1 TRE25) -

Q. Can you turn to D724.

A ko 7245 ARG TE - - AT G R IR A EARE "R
RiL (A [EIRaymond 2 i I B ot i R 0E,

A Court Reporting Transcript by Epig

128
Day 11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Commission of Inquiry into the Diaphragm Wall and Platform Slab Construction
works at the Hung Hom Station Extension under the Shatin to Central Link Project

Q.

A.

Okay. And if you go to D725.

725—% o FMAAE TR > B R FIER - Bl{fARaymond A BEEEIHE -
Lastly, D726.

726 MR A E A /e T Bl R E—Hent ryHt[EIRaymondH EEERIHE -
WHEEH - TEEF# 5 - - A R OFHASCHEMEL 285 - of fice®EEE -
Fybth g B SE a0, - (AR - FTLAFRTT - - e 1 Ahighlight g H
frofficeBEFHEAEEES o

Okay. My last two questions. One is Mr Richard Khaw
asked you a question this morning about honeycombing,
and one of the words you mentioned was "has

reservation".
& 15
Why reservation?
SRR - LR BT ELA - BRI R 5
S AT O B ST B BIVE A S0 3R » R R B0 - s ey
S5 B 4 KRR - BT > (E % — B R e B st (b 3
e B R B -

T R BIEER St (R FM0% 201 7420 F BEBSIBEERHZ: » [ElHg201845 5
B A BRI A = RSB S S B (i superintendent IffiTayden
(B PRI A F L A0EE o BRI S AUERAT » T R BB St (40201 74F -
20165 HEFI201 740 » FIFT H FIEHHE B GORAE SR L identify
S R de fect sEEHBE » MR EEF20174F0H » HE
201845 HRILT A4 RENEKE » EIGERM - MHA% > BEEREILLAS
AT  IENZIRLA (EENS: - BERERIN201 64RI8E1 B AENSERE - CIEIE
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EWL track slabWffpg 2% =FRFRIEEGRIF LR - X201 6418 H
TSl B et B I e S de fect sIE 2 PRIR R R mEnE I (E HE 2 -
Blf%201 6 FF I --201 8 IEE 8 H HE MR ER LA &L s - Bt Eig# b
ER USRS
BORFMGIA A CEER S FHEEEE] - SCEAtkins(EHERE] > Btk
BB oundl e [E PR ST HAF B S B B e B AR de fec t BE T &
TRt WAL BB TR R 408% - WEHE T TSI E - T 5T
visiblelfconcrete defect > AFEHIMITHIMEAMIEARLEIEE - (HARE
FHAREE HinstructionZXE  MEFMHZEIRIE ? TBRAHR R HE
0 —BREL - R ERE RN - DE(E GRS - - 2 R A
FERREEE - (REEAIRIH B A PR de fect s » fTERHFRIIR201 7T4E2 H £
201 7AE9 B AR » HMASRUCERHEEREIEE] - fReE D/ DI DURSU A GBI E] -
BRI > ~ 2% - fT AT REREIEE] -
TMERE A Z FIWIAE AT - Bl XA TIEM I de fect » [EAMKXEE £
AR E I — e IR T A EI A PR - B3 RIS - S FSR R g
FANBSEEEEN S ATE R 2355k - I E (A e -
Q. Okay. Mr Khaw also asked you a question as to who else
was responsible and you did not respond. Why?
CHAIRMAN: Responsible for ...?

MR TO: For this kind of repair/maintenance related to the

honeycomb.
A. Okay FemEZETLL. . .

CHATIRMAN: Just, 1f it's possible, a simple/quick answer
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would be good, mainly because I don't lose my track on

these matters.

Okay » A B AR AL B REEEIIRIM A A L RERERES - Ak
N RS > BIAREERRS - MIaPREEE]E - AUrHEE I aEM: - TRER
AW FRIRE - |UUEEREWRE - NAERHGETEEMWIE - MmEE
WERAEETE(E RAETE - QEUEEIRE L& - ATREF RIS bR - s
Bz TS - FIREEHER A M Ah 1 ddenE k] — = IE 5 (A EZ Rt 2 K
g o EEESR LRI - FECRIUGIE W6 > FIHEE— B E 2 — S 20
- BREPETZREEIE - FIekE - FIETE] o EAIRER - s — ek e
PR - BIESRER - AR A SR - (AR R RERLEMIMHE A e
FrEEE] - FEEEEE AT RE: -

MR TO: Mr Chairman, just one last question. Maybe I will

get permission for this. It goes towards his
credibility. Before I put it to him, I was going to ask
him the key thing is whether he has any criminal

convictions or bind-overs.

CHAIRMAN: He's already given a statement and in that

statement he says, as I understand it, that he's a man
of good character and the rest of it. Nobody has
suggested that he is not a man of good character, and
unless you want to prove otherwise, which I doubt, then

I don't see we need to visit it.

MR TO: Thank you. Unless I can be of further assistance,

that's my re-examination.

CHAIRMAN: No. Thank you very much.
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MR BOULDING: Sir, just before my learned friend sits down,
could I just ask for D723 to be put up on the screen
again. It may well be I've missed something. This is
152 of the transcript today, it's [draft] line 4:

"Answer: Yes. On 9 October, on D723 to the
left-most, there's a handwritten blue 'PW' initial, that
was 12 September, 5.25 in the afternoon.

WITNESS: 1414 14> 12H9-

MR BOULDING: Thank you.

MR TO: Thank you for clarification.

Questioning by THE COMMISSIONERS

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you, Chairman.

I have one question, Mr Poon, regarding your own
supervisors, supervisors employed by Chinat.

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Do you have any minimum levels of
training or qualifications or experience that you
require before you appoint assistant foremen, foremen or
superintendents?

A. Assistant foreman - Gtf7%f > assistance foreman » HFEFGHL
WEE AR [EHEE) /7 > W8 foreman ~ superintendent - engineer
e > BEERPRE R - 1T HLA A B AR g R - AR S
PR -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Just following on from that, to

promote from assistant foreman to foreman, do you have
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any required --

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Qualifications or experience or
training?

A. MaA4 levellf A - FRBECR(EFEE » BoR{E44E FsEcert. ~ high cert. »
B gTHED - RMAsHEHEMHEZESITL > BihsEH{Esupervision plan
F A SRS EETIHEEs tandard » FARTHE ©

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.

MR PENNICOTT: Right, sir. Unless anyone else wants to ask
Mr Poon anything, that's it.

CHAIRMAN: ©No. Mr Poon, I think the marathon is complete.
All right? You may of course be required to come back
to answer a question or two, if some new issue comes up,
but for the time being you are excused, and thank you
very much for your attendance.

WITNESS: Thank you really very much.

(The witness was released)

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, perhaps we could have a clear-up of the
desk.

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

MR PENNICOTT: I see we've got 35 minutes. We have Mr Chui,
who is, you may recall, from Hung Choi. He's been here
all day, or certainly all afternoon. I'm not planning
to be very long with him. I've got a few questions but
not very many. Unless somebody behind me is going to

tell me they've got lots of questions and we can't
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finish him tonight, I would certainly propose that we
call him now and try to deal with him in the next half
an hour or so.

CHAIRMAN: I think so. He has been waiting for a while.

MR PENNICOTT: I don't really want to trouble him to come
back tomorrow morning if we can avoid it. In that case,
perhaps somebody can locate Mr Chui.

Sir, as you recall, this is going to be retracing
our steps a bit back to the diaphragm wall.
Mr Chui, could you state your full name, please?

WITNESS: fRINEA -

MR CHUI TIM CHOI (affirmed in Punti)
Examination by MR PENNICOTT

MR PENNICOTT: Mr Chui, thank you very much for coming to
give evidence to the Commission. We do apologise for
having kept you waiting.

Mr Chui, you have prepared one mercifully short
witness statement for us and you are about to be given
a copy of it. It's at bundle I, page 21, in the English
version, translation, and at I19 in the Chinese.

You are looking at the Chinese version, I think; is
that right?

A, R TTEE > T -

Q. This is a witness statement you made on 21 September
2018; is that right-?

A, lF-e
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Q.

A.

Is that your signature we see on page 1207
1188 -
Mr Chui, can you confirm that you wish to adopt the
contents of this statement as your evidence to the
Commission?
% e
Mr Chui, I understand that you are
a director/shareholder/owner of Hung Choi; is that
right?
E o
You've been in operation, in business, for about
11 years as Hung Choi?
(N
What you do, your business, is bar bending and fixing;
that's your primary business, is that right?
AR I -
Yes. Are you a qualified bar bender/fixer yourself,
Mr Chui?
% > RGeS e i R A I =14 -
Right. About the same time as I've been a lawyer,
Mr Chui. Plenty of experience, Mr Chui.

Now, Mr Chui, help me with this. With regard to
this project, we know that you were sub-contracted to

Intrafor?

-
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Q.

Can you tell us: you yourself, personally, did you spend
most of your time, when your company was carrying out
the bar bending works, the fabrication of the cages, at

the site?
HBIEARIE » PR R P EA Rt s - WE(EthEs T = 2R FHEDKED - Bk
W > 5 {5 S E (S 4T RS iy -

Yes, we've heard from Mr Wong already; it seems like

a long time ago. Mr Chui, how much of your time did you
spend at the site, approximately?

—MANEERR G UIRBEEPGE TR - IREG TS - G EFe(E A -
Mr Chui, are you generally familiar with the process of
fabricating the rebar cages that you did for Intrafor
under your sub-contract?

%> RIE > HIHE -

Right. Mr Chui, can you ask you this: we know that as
part of the fabrication of the cages, you had to fix
couplers, as we call them, onto the rebar cages, so that
when the diaphragm walls were concreted, subsequently
the couplers would be exposed so that somebody else
could come along and screw in the rebar into the
couplers; do you understand me?

=7 -

Now, when you are fixing the couplers in that sense --
and I'm not talking about the couplers that fix one

rebar cage to the next, I'm talking about the couplers
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that come out the side -- we know that you put a red cap
on the end of the coupler; would that be right?

B (B (K FH B L PR (E MR AR EE 2 B A(E - - BRI TH A 2 -

Yes, I am.

BRHFTAL > wiARE R A RE o BIGEEEERGEE - (R (E - EFAHE
FAEEHREE > gRA o (EFE BRI -

Yes, understood. Apart from that red cap or red tape,
protective covering, is there any other form of
protection of those couplers to prevent them getting
damaged, or is the red tape or the red cap the extent of

the protection?

AR 2 k- - B AEBA S > e WA NRARTE % > sb o e (i
R A S — AR A ERL - RUAAWE st A W7 - W7
BB EREC - BMERHIEE - BAE- - GE s SEEA - BAER
AREERS - EAYEEIRER -

Right. Perhaps I could just make sure I've got this.
You've got the red tape or red cap, then you have some
polystyrene covering. Precisely where is that? What is

it actually covering; the whole of the coupler, part of

the coupler?

FAENRSAIE - BIMAMER %2 RSB ED EL Y - BIAEEEEA K - E
LR 2R (E -

All right. And have you yourself -- we know that the

sub-contractor that did the rebar fixing for the slab,

ie the sub-contractor was screwing in the rebar into the
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couplers that you had put into the cages or onto the
cages, was Fang Sheung. Do you know Fang Sheung? Have
you heard of them?
PnER -
Okay. They were the rebar fixers for the slab, so they
were responsible for getting the rebar and screwing the
rebar into the couplers that you had provided. Take it
from me.

Have you personally done that sort of work?
17 FECRIF AT -
So you specialise in the rebar cages and the like for
diaphragm walls; is that right?

R —ERy - B - B E A LR [ S -

Right. But you've got no experience of actually
screwing rebar of maybe 4 or 6 metres in length into
couplers?

BIAIREHTE B - ROREEE R 7

Yes.

A - AR A TS X - BIMAL 2 20 BEHEE LG -

Maybe I'm not making myself clear. I know that you
didn't in this contract, because Fang Sheung did the
work, screw 6 metre lengths of rebar with a threaded end
into the coupler, not on this contract. I just wondered
if you'd had any experience of that type of work

yourself. I think you told me no but perhaps I didn't
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make myself clear.

i o B > A --IHHEOE - TENEETE A - - BEREN R - A HECEEL - BIARRBIE A
YHLRIESE WA » A s o -

Okay. What I wanted to ask you, Mr Chui, was whether
you had any experience of screwing, let's say, a 6 metre
length of rebar into a type A coupler, and if so you
could help us with how long that would normally take, to
do one piece of rebar?

RS TH0A - ATREF DGR s -

All right. Mr Chui, help us with this. Going back to
the couplers and the protection that you mentioned, can
you think of ways in which those couplers might --
"might" -- become damaged?

BLARREI0 ©

Yes.

YF BRI - N R IR SRS A S - BRIBURUEN S T - EREE 8 - -
BRI SERIETTBE - FIaE & 248 - GRS 4L -

Okay. Were you aware of how the couplers that you had
provided were actually exposed on the wall? Did you
know how that exposure took place; any knowledge of
that?

TR SR R SR BRI - Frad ?

Sure. You provided the cage. 1It's got a coupler on.
What then happens is the diaphragm wall is concreted,

and my understanding is that the coupler is essentially
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A.

covered in concrete. Albeit not very thick, but it's

covered in concrete. So in order to get access to the
couplers, they have to be exposed in some way, and I'm
just asking you if you know the way in which they were

exposed, what methods were used.

WEEIRIEAL » WEEA - - Fef THE R -

MR PENNICOTT: All right. Thank you very much, Mr Chui.

I have no further questions.

MR JAT: Sir, one clarification. I think the witness, when

he talked about using the polystyrene to cover the
coupler, he did say covering, I think the witness did
say 5 millimetre boards for the covering. That was not

in the transcript?

Ui 1] (%~ — MEBRAR - - A B - - SoF BRI (R o=k » BG5S 20K -
JERZ N - - FEIE 2 R -~ E AR T > Bl - - FREN S5 3 O oI > W0
SERE - BRSSPI L B (3% — - B A S (E S R (4 S

mmZ K

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Sorry, could I just understand: is

the polystyrene between the coupler and the face of the
diaphragm wall, or is the polystyrene inside the
coupler, protecting the threads on the inside? Where is

the polystyrene?

o PR o o SRR e - i - B (ETH R (B MR REE - A5 (e e
HENHRLK - EMESEEEE R E MR - ErE A —(EIRGEHE - (RERTEE
2 ERAHTAN > (E—SRE i (E - Pk A P sRi - 18 K A Ay
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JiHefE > BIAIEST FHE A - P& m PRI E AKIHER - Ay R -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I see. So if there are a number of
couplers, multiple couplers, there's then one board over
the top of the couplers; is that what you are saying?

A, fmRo T

CHAIRMAN: So would it follow -- I know it's not part of
your work, but once you have installed the diaphragm
walls in this way, if anyone now wanted to gain access
to the couplers, they would have to chip away some
concrete, and then move away the cardboard and
polystyrene protections?

A, o UEMMATRBE S SE B ERIEE - N — B HA AR - B (IR ] -

CHAIRMAN: All right. Once they have done that, then they
are going to see the actual couplers themselves covered

in red plastic or red tape?

A, BMARSFHDURIHEE - SRiEZ AR (AR 2 1% - FHE RE] - REMRLIE
EHABE (G -

CHAIRMAN: Good. So the protection that you put in place to
try to prevent couplers being damaged is not only by
wrappling some tape or putting a plastic cap on them, but
you also put polystyrene and cardboard in order to block

out concrete and things like that causing damage?

A. ko R BIREEEEE % {Econtract&I » FEEmyE
CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

MR SO: Sir, just a couple of very, very short questions, if
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I may.

CHATIRMAN: Yes.

Cross—-examination by MR SO

MR SO: Mr Chui, you told this Commission Jjust now, when you
were asked by my learned friend Mr Pennicott, that your
company also does other rebar fixing works?

A, fke

Q. In the 30 years you were in the profession, did you
experience any situation where the threaded ends of the
rebars have to be cut?

A, AT fIiHOE -

MR SO: Thank you. No further gquestions.

MS CHONG: I have no guestions.

MR WILKEN: No questions for this witness either.

MR BOULDING: None from me, sir.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Khaw?

MR KHAW: No questions from me.

CHATRMAN: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: I have one question, if I may.

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Questioning by THE COMMISSIONERS

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: When you are fixing the couplers to
the reinforcement, how do you ensure the correct
alignment for those couplers? How do you ensure they
are perpendicular to the diaphragm wall and that they're

not at a different alignment either vertically or
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horizontally? How do you keep them in the correct
alignment?
A, BRI EAE ORI (A B R EIRAREE - TRt A G B RIE - F#EER -
COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Right. It wasn't my question how do
you make sure they are in the right location.
I understand you follow the drawing. My question is
more about the alignment. How do you stop them from
moving sideways or up or down? How do you keep them in
the correct alignment? Once they are in the right

position, how do you fix them so they don't move?

A, R BREtAREE IO R TEHRE - ER KA E--EE - - B H &mar kg E( -
Bt g —(EIRAARTHAR ZAP E Y - B A S PR Z At aE BRI R T sE A 34 s B
ichecki@ify - ML EFRIE AR - BIAEIREREAD > AR(EAD - EREGER
RO TR IREERERTEN o HBHE R - BUEOR ZIR(EBEITE
FREE > PEEE o BIRIRGASAMZ AT - —EEHE - ERERA AR -

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you. So is it part of the

supervision to check that they are tight?

A, —EWE - —E  EFRBSESITHMEEET - A1RE G o (BT SR oA
WIERIBFRIEEES

COMMISSIONER HANSFORD: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN: Yes. Thank you very much indeed. That's all we
need to receive from you. You've been of great
assistance. Thank you for your patience today. We
don't need to keep you any longer. Thank you.

(The witness was released)
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Yes.

MR PENNICOTT: Sir, I see it's 4.46. The next two witnesses
will be from Fang Sheung, so I suggest we perhaps start
with them and have a clean run in the morning.

CHAIRMAN: Certainly. That sounds sensible.

MR PENNICOTT: Because we are going to have to have musical
chairs anyway.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, of course. Thank you very much. Then we
are adjourned until tomorrow morning at 10 am.

MR PENNICOTT: Thank you, sir.

(4.46 pm)

(The hearing adjourned until 10.00 am the following day)
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